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Financial Summary

IR REE

RMB’000
AR T7T

Revenue

Gross profit

Loss before tax

Loss for the year

Loss and total comprehensive
expenses for the year

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (RMB cents)

REVENUE

RMB’000

AR : F7

Television ("TV") advertising services

Online advertising services
Qutdoor advertising services
Other advertising services
E-commerce business of used
electronic products
Provision of SaaS service

Total
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For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023  Year on year (%)
B £202445F HZE20234F
12A31H 12A31H
LEE IFFE R (%)
& 356,833 378,707 (5.8)
E7 22,496 23,565 (4.5)
FRA AT 1E (123,060) (32,069) 283.7
FANEE (123,711) (23,351) 429.8
FAEBEBLREARAZAE
(123,711) (23,351) 429.8
TrEE
EXR#EE(ARED) (25.81) (5.87) 339.7
g
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023  Year on year (%)
B £202445F HZE20234F
12A31H 12A31H
LFE IEFE R (%)
BR(EBER]) BEERS 39,228 162,407 (75.8)
HTREERS 51,926 188,155 (72.4)
FINES RS 12,251 17,962 (31.8)
HAbE SRS 4,241 10,183 (58.4)
—FEFEREFABER 246,160 = N/A
THEA
1Rt SaaSHR % 3,027 - N/A
i A
4RET 356,833 378,707 (5.8)
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Chairman’s Statement

MARKET OVERVIEW

The overall consumption level in China maintained a steady recovery
compared to 2023. However, according to relevant data from the National
Bureau of Statistics (NBS), the year-on-year growth rate of monthly retail
sales of social consumer goods showed a slowdown and advertisers’
budgets and preferences were more significantly affected by the macro-
economy. Therefore, the Group’s advertising business experienced a
decline in revenue and gross profit in 2024. In outlook for 2025, the
overall growth of the advertising industry is expected to be limited, with
advertisers tending to exercise caution and prudence when making their
marketing budgets.

Against the backdrop of global economic fluctuations and changing
consumption trends, consumer downgrading has become increasingly
prominent, while the second-hand economy is experiencing explosive
growth. This type of economy, as a new engine of economic development
and a key drive of sustainable development, is receiving unprecedented
attention. Due to the uncertain growth of the advertising industry, the
Group completed the acquisition of “Qian Xun Technology”, a trading
and service platform for used electronic products, in August 2024 to
strengthen the Group’s revenue streams and diversify its revenue sources.
Since the acquisition, the Group has recognised sales turnover for used
electronic products of approximately RMB246.2 million and provision
of SaaS service income of approximately RMB3.0 million, which also
contributed to the Group’s segment profit immediately.

At the historical convergence of the advertising industry’s slowdown and
the deepening of consumer differentiation, the Group has positioned itself
in the promising second-hand economy sector through a strategy that
drives both efficiency improvements and business innovation. Leveraging
the rise of China’s trillion-dollar leisure goods distribution market, the
Group is expected to achieve a fundamental restructuring of its revenue
structure in the next three years, moving towards a new era of sustainable
growth.

INDUSTRY AND GROUP OUTLOOK

With the improvement in macro-economic conditions and market
environment, the Group expects the advertising business to have
a brighter outlook in 2025. The Group will continue to expand the
cooperation with platforms that have high-quality traffic. The Group aims
to realise the precise advertising effect of “Quality and Effectiveness in
One” of its brand partners through Al technology to satisfy the advertisers’
demand for both broad and deep advertising reach. At the same time, we
will continue to reduce cost and enhance efficiency to improve the overall
operating efficiency within the Group.

The Group has successfully placed convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$257 million on 28 February 2025, which has
significantly strengthened the Group’s financial position. The Group has
utilised the proceeds from the placing as planned to not only develop
the Group’s advertising business, but also to expand the Group’s used
electronic product platform business in the PRC. Meanwhile, it has
proactively expanded the used electronic product supply chain business
in the Asia Pacific region (excluding Mainland China), as well as the North
American region and the Middle East.

hIEHE
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Chairman’s Statement

In March 2025, the Group officially launched the industry’s first second-
hand 3C intelligent decision-making engine, “Fenhao Cloud Al Assistant”,
which is based on DeepSeek, a world-leading Al large language model.

The tool deeply integrates the real-time transaction data of “Fenhao
Cloud”, the SAAS platform of Qian Xun Technology, and the intelligent
decision-making capability of DeepSeek, with four major functions:
intelligent pricing, intelligent pricing adjustment, risk alert, and auto-
purchasing, aiming to provide merchants and consumers with intelligent
Al services across the entire chain.

The year 2025 will be a critical year for the Group’s “Strategic Change”.
The Group plans to offset the weakness in the advertising business with
the high growth in the second-hand e-commerce business in the short
term, stabilising its fundamentals. In addition, it aims to implement cost
restructuring and achieve significant efficiency gains through supply chain
optimisation and the use of Al technology in the mid-term. In the long
run, we aim to establish a triangular framework consisting of “Technology
+ Supply Chain + Finance”, with the goal of becoming a benchmark
enterprise in the circular economy.

We are confident that we will persistently create outstanding value for
enterprises and society with our professional and efficient services and
business strategies that keep up with the times. | hereby would like to
express my sincere appreciation to our shareholders and respected client
partners for their long-term support to and deep trust in the Group. We
will move forward with you hand-in-hand, not be afraid of difficulties, forge
ahead with determination, and create a brighter future together.

Sun Changpeng
Chairman

31 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB WD AT

BUSINESS REVIEW
TV advertising services

Nowadays, there are various forms of media and the audience’s contact
with media is diversified and dispersed. The market competition is fierce,
but the core position of TV media at the consumer audience level remains
strong, and the value-creation capability of TV advertising is widely
recognised by advertisers, with the authoritative media represented by TV
media endorsing the brand and shaping the brand’s main line of value.
The Group provides professional and customised TV advertising solutions
to its customers. By leveraging its long-term business relationship with
major suppliers, the Group is able to provide customers with a wealth of
cost-effective communication resources, deliver high-quality advertising
displays within their budgets, and maximise the value of advertising.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), faced with the
intense market competition in the TV advertising services industry, the
Group sought to maximise the profitability of its business, resulting in a
significant decline in the television advertising industry with revenue of
approximately RMB39.2 million.

Online advertising services

In terms of online advertising and online marketing, the market is highly
competitive with the dispersed business. In response to the current trend
of Internet media development and the placement needs of advertisers,
the Group reduced its efforts in online advertising. Meanwhile, riding
on the strengths and experience accumulated by the Group in TV
content marketing and communications, the Group has made all efforts
to improve the integrated Internet service capability and strengthened
the communication services of Interet variety content, integrating the
successful experience of online advertising and traditional business, thus
enhancing the professional ability of Internet content integration in future
to provide customers with one-stop online marketing solutions and help
customers realise better outcome in placing online advertisements and
improve their brand popularity.

During the Year, faced with the intense market competition in the online
advertising services industry, the Group endeavoured to maximise the
profitability of its business, resulting in a significant decline in the online
advertising services with revenue of approximately RMB51.9 million.

Outdoor advertising services

The Group continues to strengthen and improve its market penetration in
the field of outdoor display boards, LED displays, elevators in buildings,
bus bodies, metro outdoor advertising and other advertisement
placement segments. Leveraging on its quality outdoor advertising
resources and well-established connections with relevant suppliers, the
Group provides customers with diversified scenes as well as scene-
integrated communication solutions. During the Year, the Group placed
advertisements on bus bodies, LEDs and other advertisements in
collaboration areas for clients of well-known brands in the furniture and
home appliances and technical services industries.

During the Year, revenue from the outdoor advertising services business
amounted to approximately RMB12.3 million.
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Other advertising services

Building on the stable foundation formed by its original diversified media
advertising services, the Group continues to explore new areas of
resources and in-depth collaboration, including the development and
utilisation of resources for brand strategy design and services, radio
advertising, magazine advertising, newspaper advertising and livestream
advertising to meet customers’ diversified advertising needs.

During the Year, the revenue from other advertising services amounted to
approximately RMB4.2 million.

E-commerce business of used electronic products

The Group starts to engage in the e-commerces business of used
electronic products after the completion of acquisition of Qian Xun
International Limited (formerly know as Charm Linkage Holding Limited)
(“Qian Xun Int”) on 13 August 2024. Since the acquisition of Qian Xun Int,
it has generated sales turnover for used electronic products in the amount
of approximately RMB246.2 million and provision of SaaS services
income in the amount of approximately RMB3.0 million for the Year and
recognized segment profit in the amount of approximately RMB6.6 million
to the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and loss and total comprehensive expenses attributable
to the owners of the Company

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
RMB356.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately 5.8% from
approximately RMB378.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Corresponding Year”).

Revenue details for the Reporting Period are as follows:

(1) During the Year, revenue from TV advertising services was
approximately RMB39.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 75.9% from approximately RMB162.4 million for the
Corresponding Year. Due to the fierce competition and increased
costs in the advertising industry, the Group reduced its placement
on the less profitable TV advertising, in order to maximise the
profitability of its business, which resulted in a decline in revenue
attributable to TV advertising services.

2) During the Year, revenue from online advertising services was
approximately RMB51.9 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 72.4% from approximately RMB188.2 million for the
Corresponding Year. Due to the fierce competition and increased
costs in the advertising industry, the Group reduced its placement
on the less profitable online advertising, in order to maximise the
profitability of its business, which resulted in a decline in revenue
attributable to online advertising services.

©)) During the Year, revenue from outdoor advertising services
was approximately RMB12.3 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 31.7% from approximately RMB18.0 million
for the Corresponding Year. Due to the fierce competition and
increased costs in the advertising industry, the Company reduced
its placement on more profitable outdoor advertising, in order
to maximise the profitability of its business, which resulted in a
decrease in revenue attributable to outdoor advertising services.
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(4) During the Year, revenue from other advertising services was
approximately RMB4.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 58.8% from approximately RMB10.2 million for
the Corresponding Year. Due to the fierce competition and
increased costs in the advertising industry, the Company reduced
its placement on the more profitable other advertising, in order
to maximise the profitability of its business, which resulted in a
decrease in revenue attributable to other advertising services.

(6)  The Group starts to engage in the e-commerces business of used
electronic products after the completion of acquisition of Qian Xun
Int on 13 August 2024. Since the acquisition of Qian Xun Int, the
Group recognized sales turnover for used electronic products in the
amount of approximately RMB246.2 million and provision of SaaS
services income in the amount of approximately RMB 3.0 million for
the Year.

During the Year, the loss and total comprehensive expenses attributable
to the owners of the Company was approximately RMB123.7 million, while
the loss and total comprehensive expenses attributable to the owners of
the Company for the Corresponding Year were approximately RMB23.5
million.

Gross profit and gross profit margin during the Reporting Period

During the Year, the Group recorded gross profit and gross profit margin
of approximately RMB22.5 million and approximately 6.3%, respectively.
The Group’s gross profit and gross profit margin for the Corresponding
Year were approximately RMB23.6 million and approximately 6.2%,
respectively. The gross profit and gross profit margin are stable during the
Year.

Other income, gains and losses

During the Year, other income, gains and losses of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB7.6 million, representing an increase of 123.5%
from approximately RMB3.4 million for the Corresponding Year. During
the Year, other income, gains and losses were mainly attributed from the
gain on disposal of a subsidiary.

Selling and marketing expenses

During the Year, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately RMB6.0 million, representing an increase of approximately
130.8% from approximately RMB2.6 million for the Corresponding Year.
The main reason for the increase in selling and marketing expenses of the
Group was due to the impact of increase in staff travel expenses.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were approximately
RMB17.1 million, representing an increase of approximately 108.5% from
approximately RMB8.2 million in the Corresponding Year. The main reason
for the increase in administrative expenses of the Group was due to the
increase in the number of employees as compared with for Corresponding
Year.
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Finance costs

During the Year, finance costs of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB4.9 million (last year: approximately RMB7.3 million), representing a
decrease of 32.9%, which was mainly due to the change in part of the
loan structure in 2024 leading to a decrease in bank borrowings.

Provision for losses allowances of financial assets and contract
assets, net

During the Year, the Group recorded provision for losses allowances of
financial assets and contract assets, net of approximately RMB125.2
million (last year: provision for losses allowances of financial assets and
contract assets of approximately RMB40.9 million), which was due to the
decrease of Group’s accounts receivable turnover rate.

Income tax (expense)/credit

For the Reporting Period, the Group’s income tax expense was
approximately RMBO0.7 million (last year: income tax credit of
approximately RMB8.7 million), which was primarily due to deferred
taxation as a result of losses allowances.

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year

The Group’s loss and total comprehensive expense for the Reporting
Period was approximately RMB123.7 million (last year: loss and total
comprehensive expense of approximately RMB23.4 million). Save for the
influences from the aforesaid factors, it can be attributed to the increase in
the provision for loss allowance of trade receivables.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2024, the deferred tax assets were approximately
RMB15.6 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB20.8 million).

Trade receivables, prepayments and other receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s trade receivables, prepayments
and other receivables amounted to approximately RMB304.2 million
(31 December 2023: approximately RMB518.6 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 41.3% as compared to the previous year. The
decrease in trade receivables was mainly due to the fact that the increase
in the provision for loss allowance of trade receivables.

Contract assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s contract assets were zero (31
December 2023: approximately RMB18.0 million). The operations at the
end of the year were executed and at the same time the receivables from
the customers were received, thereby resulting in a significant reduction in
the contract assets.
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Trade and other payables

As at 31 December 2024, trade and other payables amounted to
approximately RMB136.8 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB210.9 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 35.1%.

Tax payables

As at 31 December 2024, tax payables amounted to approximately
RMB1.7 million (31 December 2023: approximately RMB1.3 million).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED
COMPANIES

Placing of New Shares under Generate Mandate

On 24 May 2024, the Company entered into an agreement for the placing
of up to an aggregate of 80,000,000 placing shares at the placing price
of HK$0.50 per placing share. All the conditions precedent set out in
the agreement have been fulfiled and completion of the share placing
took place on 7 June 2024. For further details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 24 May 2024 and 7 June 2024.

Disposal of a Subsidiary

On 28 June 2024, Beijing Ruicheng Advertising Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Ruicheng”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an equity transfer agreement with Beijing Youlan Culture
Media Co., Ltd. (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which Beijing Ruicheng
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser agreed to purchase, the entire equity
interest in Shanghai Kailun Advertising Co., Ltd., a then indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, at a consideration of RMB0.2 million.
Completion of such disposal took place on the same day. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 28 June
2024.

Acquisition of a subsidiary of the Company

On 24 July 2024, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Ms. Li Ye and Mr. Cong Peijin (collectively, the “Vendors”),
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase,
and the Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued
shares of Charm Linkage Holdings Limited (A58 E AR A 7)) for a
total consideration of HK$82,600,000.00 (subject to adjustment) (the
“Acquisition”), which shall be settled partially by the allotment and issue
of 80,000,000 new shares in the Company and partially by payment of
cash which can be adjusted. The aforementioned sale and purchase
was completed on 13 August 2024. For further details, please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 24 July 2024 and 13 August
2024.
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Placing of convertible bonds under Specific Mandate

On 4 November 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with the placing agent pursuant to which the Company proposed to offer
for subscription, and the Placing Agent agreed to procure subscriptions
for the convertible bonds on a best effort basis on the terms and subject
to the conditions set out in the placing agreement. The placing agent shall
procure not less than six placees to subscribe for the convertible bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of up to HK$300,001,000.

The completion took place on 28 February 2025. The convertible bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$256,630,000 have been
successfully issued and placed to not less than six placees. Upon the full
conversion of the convertible bonds, based on the initial conversion price
of HK$2.60 per conversion share (subject to adjustment), 98,703,846
conversion shares will be allotted and issued by the Company upon
exercise of the conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds in
full, representing (i) approximately 17.63% of the total number of issued
Shares as at the date of this announcement; and (ii) approximately
14.98% of the total issued shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue
of 98,703,846 conversion shares.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 4 November 2024, 19 December 2024, 10 January 2025, 27
January 2025, 25 February 2025 and 28 February 2025 and circulars of
the Company dated 10 January 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no significant subsequent events
which needs to be disclosed as at December 31, 2024 and up to the date
of this announcement.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately RMB34.0 million (31 December 2023: approximately
RMB17.9 million) of which, substantially was in HKS.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total assets was approximately
RMB459.2 million, of which equity attributable to the owners of the
Company was approximately RMB153.8 million, non-controlling equity
was approximately RMB0.03 million.

Capital expenditure

During the Year, the Group did not have any other significant capital
expenditure.

Contingent liabilities
During the Year, the Group incurred contingent liabilities in the amount of

approximately RMB28.8 million which are from contingent consideration
payable of the Acquisition.
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Gearing ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from approximately 81.5% as at 31
December 2023 to approximately 53.3% as at 31 December 2024. The
gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of total bank and other
borrowings by total equity as at the end of the respective periods, and
multiplied by 100%.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s business activities and operations are mainly carried out
in China where core transactions are conducted in RMB. The influence
by exchange rate fluctuations on cash flow or liquidity of the Group’s
operating business is very limited, therefore, the Group currently did not
engage in or intend to manage hedging activities of foreign exchange
rate risk. The Group will continue to monitor foreign exchange activities to
secure the Group’s cash value as far as possible.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuations
in the prevailing market interest rates on bank balances and cash. The
Group does not have an interest rate hedging policy.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed-rate bank
and other borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group’s policy is to maintain
short-term borrowings at prevailing market rates so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk.

Industry and Group outlook

With the improvement in macro-economic conditions and market
environment, the Group expects the advertising business to have
a brighter outlook in 2025. The Group will continue to expand the
cooperation with platforms that have high-quality traffic. The Group aims
to realise the precise advertising effect of “Quality and Effectiveness in
One” of its brand partners through Al technology to satisfy the advertisers’
demand for both broad and deep advertising reach. At the same time, we
will continue to reduce cost and enhance efficiency to improve the overall
operating efficiency within the Group.

The Group has successfully placed convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$257 million on 28 February 2025, which has
significantly strengthened the Group’s financial position. The Group has
utilised the proceeds from the placing as planned to not only develop
the Group’s advertising business, but also to expand the Group’s used
electronic product platform business in the PRC. Meanwhile, it has
proactively expanded the used electronic product supply chain business
in the Asia Pacific region (excluding Mainland China), as well as the North
American region and the Middle East.

In March 2025, the Group officially launched the industry’s first second-
hand 3C intelligent decision-making engine, “Fenhao Cloud Al Assistant”,
which is based on DeepSeek, a world-leading Al large language model.
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The tool deeply integrates the real-time transaction data of “Fenhao
Cloud”, the SAAS platform of Qian Xun Technology, and the intelligent
decision-making capability of DeepSeek, with four major functions:
intelligent pricing, intelligent pricing adjustment, risk alert, and auto-
purchasing, aiming to provide merchants and consumers with intelligent
Al services across the entire chain.

The year 2025 will be a critical year for the Group’s “Strategic Change”.
The Group plans to offset the weakness in the advertising business with
the high growth in the second-hand e-commerce business in the short
term, stabilise its fundamentals. In addition, it aims to implement cost
restructuring and achieve significant efficiency gains through supply chain
optimisation and the use of Al technology in the mid-term. In the long
run, we aim to establish a triangular framework consisting of “Technology
+ Supply Chain + Finance”, with the goal of becoming a benchmark
enterprise in the circular economy.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s securities during the Reporting Period.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Loss of Control and Ownership in a Subsidiary

On or about 7 February 2025, the Company discovered that the legal
representatives of several PRC subsidiaries had been changed to Ms.
Wang Xin (the former executive director and Chairlady of the Board of the
Company) without proper Board authorization. Upon investigation, it was
found that these changes may involve the use of forged documents. The
Company has reported the relevant situation to the police in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

Save and except for Lingyu (Beijing) Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (485 (1t )
YALEE AR AR (“‘Lingyu Beijing”), the legal representatives of those
PRC subsidiaries have been changed back to the authorized officers of
the Company, and the Company has resumed control over those PRC
subsidiaries by the end of February 2025.

The legal representative of Lingyu Beijing was changed to Sun Xiaoming,
an associate of Ms. Wang Xin, on 17 February 2025. Without the
knowledge of the Company, all equity of Lingyu Beijing was secretly sold
to an outside party on 19 February 2025.

Legal Action Taken by the Company:

The Company has engaged PRC legal counsel to advise on the possible
cause of action against Ms. Wang and/or other parties for the recovery
of Lingyu Beijing’s equity. Based on the publicly available records, the
equity of Lingyu Beijing has been transferred three times — first to Beijing
Zhiang Trading Co., Ltd.* Gt RS E S ERAF]) on 19 February 2025,
then to Jilin Chuangfeng Investment Co., Ltd.* (F#EI$2IKE B R A a))
on 25 February 2025, and finally to Zhongke Guorong Non-Performing
Asset Disposal (Shandong) Co., Ltd.* (FRIB g TR EEEE (L)
BBRAF]) on 10 March 2025. These repeated transfers complicate the
legal process, as each transfer may involve additional parties and legal
complexities, potentially making recovery more challenging.
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Commencement of legal action against Ms. Wang

Beijing Rui Sincere Advertising Co., Ltd.* (It RE#E & B RE A 7))
(“Beijing Rui Sincere”), a subsidiary of the Company, commenced
legal proceedings against, among others, Ms. Wang for her alleged
misconduct. On 21 March 2025, the legal action was officially accepted
by the Chaoyang District People’s Court in Beijing (Case No.: (2025) Jing
0105 Min Chu 49583).

Primarily, Beijing Rui Sincere is seeking damages for the harm caused
to the Company due to Ms. Wang’s alleged misconduct, including
unauthorized changes to legal representatives, forgery of signatures,
and the secret sale of Lingyu Beijing’s equity. The Company will submit
additional evidence to the court in due course. The court has not yet
notified the trial date, and whether the Company can recover the equity of
Lingyu Beijing will depend on the court’s further investigation and the trial
process.

Lingyu Beijing is a company incorporated in the PRC with net liabilities of
approximately RMB45,345,000 as of 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no significant subsequent events
that need to be disclosed as of 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this announcement.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
minimum public float of 25% as required under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during
the Reporting Period.

DIVIDENDS

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
CONTAINED IN APPENDIX C1 TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. The Company has complied with the required code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Part 2
of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Changpeng, aged 38, was appointed as executive director
of the Company on 21 June 2024 and is the Chairman of the board of
directors of the Company. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Sun
has extensive experience in investment management. From September
2009 to April 2015, Mr. Sun worked as an investment manager at Beijing
Xinzhengtai Investment Co., Ltd.* (At RFTIEFILEGR A RA]), an asset
management company where he was mainly responsible for managing the
investment portfolio. From April 2015 to November 2021, Mr. Sun worked
as an executive director, general manager and investment manager at
Beijing Houxian Investment Management Co., Ltd.* {Qt REBHREEEH
R 2 a]), an asset management company where he was mainly responsible
for managing the investment portfolio. Since May 2013, Mr. Sun has been
a director of Beijing VORX CT Co., Ltd.* (1t REAR BE MDA R A 7)),
a company principally engaged in the research, manufacturing and sales
of surveillance products where he was mainly responsible for investment
management. Since December 2021, Mr. Sun has been a director and
a deputy general manager of Beijing VORX Software Technology Co.,
Ltd. b REREH T AR A F]), a company principally engaged in the
research and development of software where he was mainly responsible
for investment management. Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor’s degree in
logistical management from the Beijing Wuzi University in the People’s
Republic of China in July 2009.

Mr. Leng Xuejun (X2 ), aged 42, is an executive Director of our
Company. Mr. Leng is primarily responsible for overseeing the financial
matters of the Group. He was redesignated as an executive Director on
29 April 2019. Mr. Leng has over 10 years of experience in the advertising
industry and he joined the Group in September 2013. From September
2013 to February 2016, he was the business manager of Beijing
Ruicheng, where he was responsible for business development and
external liaison. From March 2016 to October 2018, he was a director of
Beijing Ruicheng, where he was responsible for the overall management,
business development and implementation of business strategies of the
company. He served as an executive director of Beijing Ruicheng from
November 2018 to January 2022, and was responsible for the overall
management, business development and implementation of business
strategies of the company. From March 2016 to November 2018, he was
the secretary to the board of directors of Beijing Ruicheng, where he was
responsible for company secretarial matters. Mr. Leng graduated from
the Nanjing University in the PRC and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
administrative management by way of distance learning in February 2009.

HITES

BEMEELE 385 0 N2024F6A21 HEZTARAT
PWITEE  BRARARESSER - BN AREEESE
ERHFNEEBEKE - BREENKREERTABEELEEL
B o MA2009F9 A E20155F4 A - BRAEERIE T ERK
BERARERIRELE 2 A HEEETEAR]
HEZEEERREAS - R2015F4HE2021F11 8 -
BAaERItREBEREEEBERAREERITES « B
BRINEKIE  ZARA—HEEEEQNR  BEXEAEE
BB EMEE - B2013F5 A RELETILRERRA
EEMRNARESE  ZART BN EENERVNE
B NEE  FEXEAEREERE - B2021F12A8 - &
SEETIREREGRMAERAREEREELHE  Z
NEEBREHHRALHLE  REIZTEEREEE - &
S R2009F 7 AEEBPE ARKFBEIL R E SRR

BB -

REBELE 425 ARAWITEFE - AALETEEE
NEBNWTFERT o BN2019F4 A20 B ERIE AITE
H o REEBABI0FESTENGES - WE2013649A
IIAKER - R2013F9AE201652A8 @ HAILLRIRH
MERLIE - BEEBBRRERINPELE - R2016F3A=E
2018F108 » HAILFHHANES - HATZARINEE
B EBBERENERRBEEE - 2018511 B £202241
B #ALFRHENIITES  BEZARINEEERE -
EBBRRERERRBEE - R2016F3H Z=2018F 117 -
WALFEHAZEEENE  BERRNESEE - AL4ERN
20092 ARENFBERAZ - WIAEEREAF IR

BITRERB LM -




Directors and Senior Management
EERSHEEAE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Niu Zhongjie, aged 55, was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 21 June 2024. He is also a member
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Niu obtained a bachelor’s degree in business administration from the
Northeast Missouri State University in Missouri USA in May 1994. He also
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from The University
of Hong Kong in December 1999.

Mr. Niu has worked with various financial institutions and has extensive
experience in equity capital markets. He is currently the responsible
officer for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities of Vision Finance Asset Management Limited. He
is also a director of Vision Finance International Company Limited and
the responsible officer of the company to carry on type 1 (dealing in
securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activities.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Peiport Holdings
Ltd. (stock code: 2885), New Media Lab Limited (stock code: 1284) and
Starlight Culture Entertainment Group Limited (stock code: 1159), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Niu was an independent non-executive director of Nanjing Sample
Technology Co. Ltd., the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1708) from May 2019 to May 2024. Mr.
Niu was an executive director of Beijing Sports and Entertainment Industry
Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1803) from April 2015 to November 2018.
He was an independent non-executive director of Gold-Finance Holdings
Limited (“Gold-Finance”) from February 2016 to May 2019. Gold-Finance
was a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1462) but the trading of Gold-Finance’s securities on the Stock
Exchange was suspended on 5 May 2019 and it was eventually delisted
on 16 March 2021. As disclosed in the announcements made by Gold-
Finance prior to its delisting, a winding-up petition was filed against Gold-
Finance on 3 June 2019 in the High Court of Hong Kong and provisional
liquidators were appointed in respect of Gold-Finance on 5 June 2019 as
a result of a winding-up petition filed against Gold-Finance’s controlling
shareholder in April 2019, which falls within 12 months after Mr. Niu’s
ceasing to act as its independent non-executive director. For further
details of the said winding up petition and delisting, please refer to the
announcements made by Gold-Finance. Based on public information,
Gold-Finance was an investment holding company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability, and its
principal activities were investment and asset management services in
the PRC, property investment and development in the PRC and building
services in Hong Kong. According to the Cayman Islands Gazette dated
10 May 2021 (Issue No. 10/2021), Gold Finance was struck off from
the Cayman Islands Companies Register on or around 29 May 2020 in
accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen, aged 50, was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 3 September 2024. She is also
the chairlady of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee. Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce (major in
accounting and finance) from the University of New South Wales in 1996.
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Ms. Lam has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance and
advisory industries. Ms. Lam is currently the director and responsible
officer of Vision Finance International Company Limited, and is responsible
for type 1 (dealing in securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Lam had worked in
several investment banks, including DBS Asia Capital Limited and HSBC
Investment Bank Asia Limited.

Mr. Wong Sincere, aged 50, was appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company on 3 September 2024. He is also
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in social science from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1986. He passed the
Common Professional Examination at Wolverhampton Polytechnic (now
known as University of Wolverhampton) in the United Kingdom in July
1990, and the Solicitors’ Final Examination of the Law Society of England
and Wales with first class honours in October 1991. He was then admitted
as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in October 1993 and a
solicitor of the Supreme Court of England & Wales in February 1994. Mr.
Wong was admitted as a Guangdong-Hongkong-Macau Greater Bay Area
lawyer in September 2022.

From September 1996 to January 2005, Mr. Sincere Wong served as an
in-house legal counsel of Hutchison Whampoa Group (Flit & HEE), a
multinational conglomerate engaging mainly in ports and related services,
property and hotels, retail, infrastructure, energy and telecommunications,
where he was involved in cross-border acquisitions and day-to-day
commercial transactions of a container terminal operator. From February
2005 to November 2006, he served as an in-house legal counsel of
China Resources Enterprise, Limited (now known as China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange with the stock code of 291 and whose business focus is on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products). From November
2006 to June 2010, he served as the chief legal officer of Shui On
Construction and Materials Limited (now known as SOCAM Development
Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange with the stock
code of 983 and whose business focus is on construction and property
businesses in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau). From July 2010 to
May 2011, he served as the vice president of the legal department and
company secretary of Sateri Holdings Limited (a global specialty cellulose
producer subsequently renamed as Bracell Limited, whose shares were
listed on the Stock Exchange with the stock code of 1768 prior to its
privatization and delisting in October 2016). From August 2011 to April
2016, he worked at the Listing Department of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited, and he served as a vice president at the time of his
departure, primarily responsible for reviewing IPO applications and making
recommendations to the Listing Committee. In May 2016, he became the
founding partner of Wong Heung Sum & Lawyers (& Z& ;L2 A E15FT)
(formerly known as Sincere Wong & Co. (& # &2 75 FT). Mr. Sincere
Wong had served as an independent non-executive director of Bank of
Gansu Co., Ltd (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with the stock
code of 2139) from August 2017 to October 2023. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Net-a-Go Technology Company
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with the stock code of
1483), Fulu Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with the stock code of 2101) and Jinmao Property Services Co., Limited,
since September 2018, August 2020 and March 2022, respectively.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Yu Kin Man Duncan, aged 52, was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company on 3 September 2024. Mr. Yu holds a master
degree in Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from
the City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Yu has over 26 years of experience in finance, accounting, corporate
finance and corporate secretarial services. Before joining the Company, he
worked for several publicly listed companies and accounting firms. Mr. Yu is
currently the Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of Net-A-Go
Technology Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange
with stock code: 1483).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision
and strategy. It is the Board’s role to foster a corporate culture with the
following core principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values
and business strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics
and corporate governance across all our activities and operations.
The Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully,
ethically and responsibly, and the required standards and norms
are explicitly set out in the training materials for all new staff and
embedded in various policies such as the Group’s employee
handbook (including therein the Group’s code of conduct), the
anti-corruption policy and the whistleblowing policy of the Group.
Trainings are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required
standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and
sustainability is one where people have a feeling of commitment
and emotional engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets
the tone for a strong, productive workforce that attracts, develops,
and retains the best talent and produces the highest quality work.
Moreover, the Company’s strategy in the business development
and management are to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable
growth, while having due considerations from environment, social
and governance aspects.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Except for code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG
Code, the Company has applied and, as disclosed below, has complied
with all the code provisions set out in the CG Code during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having been made specific
enquiry, the Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the Reporting Period.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS BEEg

Composition of the Board

The Board currently comprises a combination of two executive
Directors and three Independent Non-executive Directors as below:
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Sun Changpeng
(Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Leng Xuejun
(Vice Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Niu Zhongjie
Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen
Mr. Wong Sincere

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing its corporate value.

The Directors possess the skills, experience and expertise either in
the same industry or relevant to the management of the business
of the Group. The biographical details of the Directors and the
relationship between members of the Board are set out in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 16 to 19 of
this annual report. There are no relationships (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships) among
members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 under part 2 of the CG Code,
the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer should be
separated and should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. Sun Changpeng was the Chairman of the Board since 1 March
2025. There was no Chief Executive Officer appointed by the
Company and the day-to-day management of the Group was led
by Executive Directors since then. There is no time schedule to
change this structure, as the Directors consider that this structure
provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in the
Company’s decision making process and operational efficiency.
The Board will, nevertheless, review the business growth of the
Group and locate suitable candidate to fill the vacancy of Chief
Executive Officer when considered essential.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide leadership
for the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in the best
interest of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that the Board
works effectively and fully discharges its responsibilities, and that
all key issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner.
The Chairman has taken into account, where appropriate, any
matters proposed by the Directors for inclusion in the agenda.
The Chairman has delegated the responsibility of drawing up the
agenda for each board meeting to the Company Secretary. With the
support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner. The Chairman also take primary responsibility for
ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures
are established.
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The Board is therefore of the view that there is an adequate
balance of power and that appropriate safeguards are in place.
Nevertheless, the Board will continue to regularly monitor and
review the Company’s current structure and to make necessary
changes when appropriate.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Directors, all of whom are independent, play
an important role in the Board. They possess extensive academic,
professional and industry expertise and management skill and
experience and have provided their professional advice to the
Board through regular attendance and active participation. Three
Independent Non-executive Directors have represented more than
one-third of the Board, they provide a certain degree of check and
balance and exercise independent judgement for safeguarding the
interests of the Shareholders and the Group as a whole.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a fixed term
of three years commencing from the respective effective date
of appointment and are subject to retirement by rotation at the
Company’s annual general meetings at least once every three years
in accordance with the regulations of the Articles of Association.
The Company has received an annual written confirmation from
each Independent Non-executive Director in respect of his
independence to the Company pursuant to the requirements of the
Listing Rules. The Company has assessed the independence of
all Independent Non-executive Directors and confirmed that each
of them continued to satisfy the independence criteria under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and remained independent throughout the
Reporting Period.

The Company also has at all times complied with the requirements
under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors and the appointment of an independent non-executive
Director with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The Independent
Non-executive Directors represented at least one-third of the
Board and there will be a sufficiently robust and independent
voice within the Board to counter-balance any situation involving
conflict of interest and safeguard the interests of the independent
Shareholders.
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Division of Responsibilities of the Board and the
Management of the Company

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group. The main corporate
governance duties of the Board include (a) to formulate and
review the policies and practices on corporate governance of the
Company; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management; (c)
to review and monitor the policies and practices of the Company on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to formulate,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if
any) to employees and Directors; and (e) to review the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate
governance report. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs, the Board has established three Board committees including
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated the responsibility
as set out in their respective terms of reference which are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company to the
Board committees.

The management under the leadership of the general manager
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s
businesses and implementation of the strategy and direction set by
the Board.

To ensure the operational efficiency and specific issues are being
handled by relevant expertise, the Board delegates certain powers
and authorities from time to time to the management.

Board Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group.
Code Provision C.5.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code prescribes that
at least four regular Board meetings should be held in each year
at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
majority of Directors, Directors may participate in person or through
electronic means of communication.

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board
meetings regularly. Notice of not less than fourteen days is given
of all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with the
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda. For other
committee meetings, seven days’ notice is given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are despatched to the Directors or
committee members at least three days before meetings to ensure
that they have sufficient time to review these documents and be
adequately prepared. When the Directors or committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairlady prior to the meeting.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board
and the committees and the decisions reached in the meetings,
including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each Board meeting and committee meetings are sent to
the Directors within a reasonable time after the date on which
the meeting is held so that they have an opportunity to request
amendments. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.

The Company has fully complied with the requirement under the
code provision C.5.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code to convene Board
meetings at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. During the Reporting Period, the members of the Board
have (i) reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;
(ii) reviewed the policies and practices on corporate governance
of the Company; and (jii) reviewed and monitored the policies and
practices of the Company on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, during the regular board meetings. As at the date of
this annual report, the members of the Board have reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report.

The Company convened an annual general meeting on 6 June
2024 and ten Board meetings during the Reporting Period. The
attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings and
general meeting of the Company during the Reporting Period are
set out below:

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
Board Meetings  General Meeting
Name of Directors eligible to attend eligible to attend
Ms. Wang Xin (removed on
1 March 2025) 10/10 11
Mr. Sun Changpeng
(appointed on
21 June 2024) 7/7 N/A
Ms. Li Na (resigned on

21 June 2024) 3/3 11
Mr. Leng Xuejun 10/10 11
Mr. Li Xue (resigned on

3 September 2024) 77 11
Mr. How Sze Ming (resigned

on 21 June 2024) 3/3 11
Mr. Wu Ke (resigned on

3 September 2024) 77 11

Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen

(appointed on

3 September 2024) 3/3 N/A
Mr. Niu Zhongjie (appointed

on 21 June 2024)

/7 N/A
Mr. Wong Sincere
(appointed on
3 September 2024) 3/3 N/A

The Board met ten times during the Reporting Period for reviewing
and approving the annual audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the unaudited interim
financial statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June
2024, and other affairs of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in the code provision A.2.1 of Part 2 of the CG Code, including
(i) reviewing the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices and making recommendations to the Board; (i)
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; (iii) reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv) reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) to employees
and Directors; and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

Board Committees

The Board has established Board Committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the Board Committees. The Company
currently has three committees under the Board, which are
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the
Nomination Committee. These committees operate in accordance
with their respective terms of reference established by the Board.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the CG Code. The Audit Committee of the Company consists
of three Independent Non-executive Directors. As at the date of
this report, the members of Audit Committee are Ms. Lam Hoi Yan
Karen, Mr. Niu Zhongjie and Mr. Wong Sincere. Ms. Lam Hoi Yan
Karen currently serves as the chairlady of the Audit Committee. Al
the members are Independent Non-executive Directors (including
one Independent Non-executive Director who possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise). None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditors.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things,
to review and supervise the Company’s financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control system, nominate and
monitor external auditors and to provide advice and comments to
the Board on matters related to corporate governance.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Code provision D.3.3(e)(i) of Part 2 of the CG Code provides that
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee shall have the terms
that the members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management and the Audit Committee must meet
at least twice a year with the Auditor. The Company has included
such terms in relevant terms of reference, and thus complied with
the Code Provision D.3.3(e)(i) of Part 2 of the CG Code during the
Reporting Period.
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During the Reporting Period, three Audit Committee meetings were
held. The attendance records of the Audit Committee Meetings are
set out below:

Attendance/
Number of
Name of Committee Members Meeting(s)
Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen
(appointed on 3 September 2024) 11
Mr. Niu Zhongjie
(appointed on 21 June 2024) 11
Mr. Wong Sincere
(appointed on 3 September 2024) 11
Mr. Li Xue
(resigned on 3 September 2024) 2/2
Mr. How Sze Ming
(resigned on 21 June 2024) 2/2
Mr. Wu Ke
(resigned on 3 September 2024) 2/2

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed
the annual audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the unaudited interim financial
statements of the Group for the six months ended 30 June
2024 with recommendations to the Board for approval; and (ii)
conducted an annual review on the risk management and internal
control system of the Group and monitored the auditing process
with recommendations to the Board on the risk management and
internal control system as well as monitoring the auditing process.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph E.1.2 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee of the Company consists of three members. As at
the date of this report, the members of Remuneration Committee
consist of Independent Non-executive Director Mr. Wong Sincere,
Executive Director Mr. Sun Changpeng and Independent Non-
executive Director Mr. Niu Zhongjie. Mr. Wong Sincere currently
serves as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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During the Reporting Period, one Remuneration Committee meeting
was held. The attendance record of the Remuneration Committee
Meeting is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of
Name of Committee Members Meeting(s)
Mr. Wong Sincere
(appointed on 3 September 2024) N/A
Mr. Sun Changpeng
(appointed on 1 March 2025) N/A
Mr. Niu Zhongjie
(appointed on 3 September 2024) N/A
Mr. Wu Ke
(resigned on 3 September 2024) 11
Ms. Wang Xin
(removed on 1 March 2025) 1M1
Mr. How Sze Ming
(resigned on 21 June 2024) 11

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include
() making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy; (ii) reviewing
and approving the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives and
(iii) either determining, with delegated responsibility or making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Director and senior management.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee
(i) reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of each Directors and senior Management;
(i) made recommendations to the Board in relation to the proposed
remuneration regarding the change of chairlady of the Board and
of the Nomination Committee; and (iii) reviewed the remuneration
policies, the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
of the Board, and structure of the Directors and the senior
management.
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Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing
Rules and paragraph B.3 of Part 2 of the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of executive Director Mr. Sun Changpeng,
Independent Non-executive Directors Mr. Wong Sincere and Ms.
Lam Hoi Yan Karen. Mr. Sun Changpeng currently serves as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Reporting Period, one Nomination Committee meeting
was held. The attendance records of the Nomination Committee
Meetings are set out below:

Attendance/
Number of
Name of Committee Members Meeting(s)
Mr. Sun Changpeng
(appointed on 1 March 2025) N/A
Mr. Wong Sincere
(appointed on 3 September 2024) N/A
Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen
(appointed on 3 September 2024) N/A
Ms. Wang Xin
(removed on 1 March 2025) 11
Mr. Li Xue
(resigned on 3 September 2024) 11
Mr. Wu Ke
(resigned on 3 September 2024) 11

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board and/or in senior management and
succession planning for Directors in particular the Chairlady of
the Board. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for (i)
reviewing the Board structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience, and diversity of perspectives) at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;
(i) developing and maintaining a policy for the nomination of Board
members which includes the nomination procedures or election
or re-election of Directors; (iii) developing and maintaining a policy
concerning board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”); (iv)
monitoring the appointment and succession planning of Directors
and (v) assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors. During Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting to (i) review the Board structure, size and composition,
and make proposed recommendations to the Board on the re-
election of the members of the Board in the forthcoming AGM in
accordance with the Board Diversity Policy of the Company and the
nomination policy of the Directors; (ii) assessed the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors; and (iii) made
recommendations to the Board on the change of chairlady of the
Board and of the Nomination Committee and the resignation of
executive Director.
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Mechanism(s) that independent views and input are available
to the Board

The Company has appointed Independent Non-executive Directors
in accordance with the independence criteria set out in the Listing
Rules, and proactively arranged Independent Non-executive
Directors to join various committees under the Board to assure
the Board and committees under which can obtain independent
perspective. Independent Non-executive Directors (same as other
Directors) are entitled to ask for further data and documentation
from the management of the Company on matters discussed at
Board meetings to enable such to make a full assessment and
to provide constructive and independent advice. The Board has
assessed the independence of all the Independent Non-executive
Directors on an annual basis pursuant to the independence criteria
set out in the Listing Rules to ensure their continued independence
of judgment.

The Board will seek advice from external advisors including
legal and other professional advisors, if necessary, to facilitate
formulating important and independent decisions. The Board
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
independent mechanisms for the year ended 31 December 2024
and considered them to be effective.

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out
its approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of our Board that are relevant to our business
growth. Pursuant to our Board Diversity Policy, selection of Board
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
industry experience. The ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the
diversity of the Board. The Nomination Committee will review our
Board Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness and we will disclose the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy in Corporate Governance Report of the Company
on an annual basis.

The gender composition of the Board of the Company is diverse
and currently the Company has one female director. As of 31
December 2024, the percentage of female members of the
Board was 33.33% and the ratio of female employees among
all employees was 34.23%. Our Company considers that the
composition of our Board satisfies our Board diversity policy and
our Company has not set any measurable objectives.
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PROCEDURE AND PROCESS FOR NOMINATION OF
DIRECTORS

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of Directors including Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the following procedures and process:

i. Selection criteria:

(@)
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the Nomination Committee shall consider suitability of
the proposed candidates for appointment as Directors
in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board
Diversity Policy and the policy for the nomination of
Directors;

the character and integrity of the proposed candidates
for appointment as Directors;

the Nomination Committee shall consider whether the
proposed candidates for appointment as Directors are
equipped with the skills and expertise required from
members of the Board, and the skills, experiences and
knowledge to make significant contributions to the
Group;

the Nomination Committee shall consider the re-
election of any Directors who are to retire by rotation
having regard to the re-appointment of Directors’
performance, ability to continue to contribute to the
Board and their participation in the Board;

compliance with the criteria of independence, in case
for the appointment of an Independent Non-executive
Director, as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules;

the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules with
regard to directors of the Company; and

any other relevant factors determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time
as appropriate.
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Nomination procedures include:

(@)

the Nomination Committee shall formulate a selection
criteria list of candidates for directorship, the list will
consider the Board’s existing structure, scale, the
Board Diversity Policy and the needs of talent groups
and the Board, the candidates shall equip with the
characteristics of coordinating with the expansion of
the overall talent groups, experiences and expertise of
the Board;

the Company shall identify suitable candidates for
directorship through various channels, including
the recommendations from the Directors, the
Shareholders, the management or external head
hunting companies;

the company secretary must obtain the personal
information of the nominated candidates in
accordance with the regulations of rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules;

the Nomination Committee shall perform sufficient due
diligence on the individual candidate for directorship
and make recommendations to the Board for the
consideration and approval;

to ensure that on appointment to the Board,
non- executive Directors receive a formal letter of
appointment setting out the expectation in terms of
time commitment, committee service and involvement
outside meetings of the Board;

in the context of re-appointment of any existing
members of the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation, for the proposed
candidates to stand for re-election at the annual
general meeting;

the Board shall have the final decision on matters
related to the selection and appointment of
directorship; and

the Board shall recommend the retired director to
stand for re-election at the annual general meeting
in accordance with the recommendations from the
Nomination Committee. The appointment of retired
director is subject to the approval at the annual
general meeting.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management 8. EESKSAEEEME

During the Reporting Period, executive Directors who are also the REREERE - RRRARARE THITESRIR
Company’s staff are entitled to receive salaries, fees, discretionary BESBEARREEH DB M A R W E
bonuses and other allowance and benefits in kind according to & e RETAREMEEREDHZE - B
their respective positions taken on a full-time basis in the Company. BEERREHANETHER SN AFRENTE
Information relating to the remuneration of each Director for the 118 E I ISR Mzt 14

Reporting Period is set out in note 14 to the financial statements on

page 117 to page 118 of this annual report.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of Part 2 of the CG Code, for the BB EERTRIE — BT RNESCEE .50
Reporting Period, details of the remuneration of senior management HWEHAN - SREERE (BEZRIINBFNERER
(except for Directors) by remuneration grade are as follows: HIF BB T

Remuneration band Number of individual
FrENEEE A
RMBO to RMB500,000 AREZTE ARES500,0007T 0
Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors 9. BEECEE EERRER

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company. The principal particulars of these service
contracts are (i) for a term of three years commencing from their
respective effective date of appointment until the day on which
the next general meeting of the Shareholders for re-election of
Directors is held; and (i) are subject to termination in accordance
with their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed
in accordance with our Articles of Association and the applicable
Listing Rules.

At any time or from time to time, the Board shall have the power to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board or as an additional Director to the existing Board subject
to any maximum number of Directors, if any, as may be determined
by the members in general meeting. Any Director so appointed to fill
a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting
of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election
at such meeting. Any Director so appointed as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the first annual general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be eligible
for re-election at such meeting. Any Director so appointed by the
Board shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors
or the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual
general meeting.
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At each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire from office by rotation. However, if the
number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one third shall be the number of
retiring Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be
those who have been in office longest since their last re-election or
appointment but, as between persons who became or were last re-
elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

No person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to
the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing
of the intention to propose that person for election as a Director
and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected
has been lodged at the head office or at the registration office
of the Company. The period for lodgement of such notices shall
commence no earlier than the day after despatch of the notice of
the relevant general meeting and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the
period during which such notices may be lodged must be at least
seven days.

A Director is not required to hold any shares in the Company by
way of qualification nor is there any specified upper or lower age
limit for Directors either for accession to or retirement from the
Board.

From time to time the Board may appoint one or more of its
members to be managing director, joint managing director or
deputy managing director or to hold any other employment or
executive office with the Company for such period and upon such
terms as the Board may determine, and the Board may revoke or
terminate any of such appointments. The Board may also delegate
any of its powers to committees consisting of such Director(s) or
other person(s) as the Board thinks fit, and from time to time it
may also revoke such delegation or revoke the appointment of and
discharge any such committees either wholly or in part, and either as
to persons or purposes, but every committee so formed shall, in the
exercise of the powers so delegated, conform to any regulations
that may from time to time be imposed upon it by the Board.
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10. Training of Directors 10. EF=HIEHI
Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of Part 2 of the CG Code, all RIEDEEATHE D FRMEECA 4E - BT
Directors should participate in continuous professional development FESE2ESESEERENERERFNELH R
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure i o WRABRESHEYESSHELANBERA
that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. 2 ER °
According to the training records provided by the Directors, a BEREERENEIIRS  RRSHEBREESE
summary of training received by the current Directors during the EEEIIgM T

Reporting Period is as follows:

Nature of

continuous
professional BHEEE
development BELHE

Name of Directors programmes EEME R

Sun Changpeng B EEs B

Leng Xuejun A B REF AB

Lam Hoi Yan Karen B MEH B

Niu Zhongjie B 480 B

Wong Sincere B =2 B

Notes: MaE -

A: Attending seminar or trainings that are relevant to (i) Director’s duties A: 2 NEL TR T @ 353 - ()EFEARER
and obligations; (i) New ESG requirements; (iij) notifiable transaction and (NESGEEMIFHE : (i)BTHEXZREESS K
connected transaction; and (iv) the continuous professional training for (V)25 EEAHR 2024 F BB IR 2 G i ZF5 42
company secretaries in 2024 organized by qualified organisation, which BRI FESRNGHNE—MREF  EERGEE
mainly involves the general responsibilities of company secretaries, the fRESE -
responsibilities of directors and senior managements, anti-corruption, etc.

B: Reading and watching relevant materials on the topics related to (j) the B: HEREEFEARNEFEREFSHEHIFS (i)
Board and the Board's Governance Guidelines; (ij) corporate governance PEEL (EEEERNEEE) @ (PEEETA  Rv)
(including managing inside information); (iii) the CG Code; and (iv) BIER ZEIIERIIF -
connected transactions.

All Directors have provided written record of the training they FIBEEERARA RREM IR IR S B EZE

received for the Reporting Period to the Company. HIEMEEE ©

34 o Qian XunTechnology Limited / Annual Report 2024 e



Corporate Governance Report
EEERME

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The management of the Company provides explanation and information
to the Board to facilitate an informed assessment of financial statements
and other information put before the Board for approval. The Board
acknowledges its responsibility for preparation information and
representations contained in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the Reporting Period, which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the results and cash flow for the
Reporting Period.

In the preparation of the financial statements, the International Financial
Reporting Standards have been adopted and appropriate accounting
policies have been consistently used and applied. The Board continues to
prepare the financial statements set out on pages 67 to 139 on a going
concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Group’s external auditor, Prism Hong
Kong Limited, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages
60 to 66 of this annual report.

Auditor Remuneration

The management performs a review of remuneration to external auditor
on an annual basis. The fees for audit services have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, and the fees for non-audit services, if any, are approved
by management.

For the Reporting Period, the fee paid/payable to the external auditor of
the Company, Prism Hong Kong Limited or its affiliated firm, in respect of
audit services and non-audit services is set out as follows:

Audit and related service: B REBERS -
Non-audit service (Note): FEEZIR G) -

Note: Non-audiit services are interim report review services

DEERER

ARRERENERSRHBERER  NEEEANEH
BN TEIRE T BB M RR R EMERINARE -
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BEPANEERRERE -

REFRERE  BRABEBRMBHRELENRERER R
EREENETBOR - EESEBEAFELLENELRR
FHIINEE7TEEFE139E W BIRK ©

AEENINEZEEEZ S MEBABRARNEHRE
ERIINAFIRFECOR EFE66 BB XBETRE -

2R 35 A
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As of

31 December 2024
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and for facilitating communications among Directors as well as
with shareholders and management.

Mr. Yu Kin Man Duncan declared that he had participated in relevant
trainings in 2024, which met the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”) of the Company, the
Company currently does not have any predetermined dividend payout
ratio. A decision to declare or pay any dividend in the future and the
amount of any dividends depends on a number of factors, including but
not limited to results of operations, financial position, working capital,
capital requirements and other factors the Board may deem relevant. The
Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time. The Board has the
absolute discretion to decide whether to declare or distribute dividends
in any year. There is no assurance that dividends of such amount or any
amount will be declared or distributed each year or in any year.

Any declaration and payment of dividends under the Dividend Policy will
be subject to the Board’s determination that the same would be in the
best interests of the Group and the Shareholders of the Company as
a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of dividends may be
subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws, rules and regulations
and the Articles of Association.

As of the date of this annual report, the Company was not aware of any
arrangements pursuant to which shareholders had waived or agreed to
waive any dividends.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS
RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
also recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions.

Information about the Company’s financial results, corporate details and
major events will be disseminated continuously through publication of
announcements, circulars, interim and annual reports and press release.
All published information is promptly uploaded to the Company’s website
at www.fprice.cn, for public access.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides an opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors.
The Chairlady of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees will be available to
answer questions at shareholder meetings. The external auditor will also
attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence.

The Company conducts regular review on the effectiveness of
communication policies with Shareholders and investors on an annual
basis and considers the relevant policies to be appropriate and effective.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General
Meeting

In accordance with article 64 of the Articles of Association, any one or
more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
rights, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to process
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to The Board
Shareholders can also submit enquiries to the Board and send proposals
to be put forward at shareholders’ meeting to the Board by sending emails
to comsec1640@gmail.com or making phone calls to our investor hotline
at 852-296 19933.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company amended its memorandum and articles of association
during the Reporting Period, details of which are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 19 April 2023 and the circular of
the Company dated 27 April 2023. The Shareholders have approved
the amendments to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company at its annual general meeting held on 6 June 2023. The latest
version of Company’s memorandum and articles of association are
available on the website of the Company (www.fprice.cn) and that of the
Stock Exchange.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

1. Accountability

The Board recognises its responsibility is to assess and determine
the nature and level of risks that the Group is willing to accept
in the process of reaching strategic targets, and to ensure the
Group establishes and maintains an appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control system. This system is aimed
at managing and not eliminating the risk of not meeting business
targets, and will provide reasonable but not absolute guarantee that
major misrepresentations or business losses will not occur.

2. Governance Structure of Risk Management and Internal

Control

The Board is responsible for the assessment and determination
of significant risks and the effectiveness of risk management
monitoring for the year; the maintenance of an appropriate
and effective design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control system; making conclusions as
to the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system every year, after considering the work and review results of
the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board in the
assessment and monitoring of the risks encountered by the Group,
the design, implementation and monitoring and performance of the
relevant risk management and internal control system. It reports
to the Board after properly reviewing the Group’s annual risk
management and the effectiveness of the internal control system.

The management is responsible for the proper design,
implementation and monitoring of the Group’s risk management
and internal control system as authorised by the Board, and the
confirmation provided to the Board as to the effectiveness of the
relevant system.
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The securities department is responsible for the coordination of
risk identification and assessment procedures, preparation of risk
assessment reports, bringing identified risks to the attention of the
Audit Committee, and reporting the actions taken in relation to
the management of such risks. Business divisions and functional
operations department are responsible, in accordance with their
duties, for identifying, assessing and responding to the risks relevant
to their individual departments, and carrying out risk management
procedures and internal control measures within the scope of their
respective business and functional operations areas. Each business
department identifies and evaluates risks and initiates risk response
measures in their respective areas.

The internal audit department is responsible for assisting the
Audit Committee to review the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control system, and to conduct
independent assessments of the established risk management
and internal control system in accordance with the internal control
procedures.

Risk Management

3.1 Risk Management Objectives
The objective of corporate risk management is to manage
significant risks (including environmental, social and
governance risks) that the Company is faced with, and take
major responsive and monitoring actions on significant risks,
through the establishment of a proper organisational system
and management model. The specific objectives are as
follows:

o identify, assess, quantify, respond and manage all
current and future process of significant risks, and
contain them at all times at a level and in a scope
acceptable to management;

o establish a consistent and effective monitoring and
reporting system for all significant risks;

o provide reasonable assurance that the Company will
comply with the requirements of relevant laws and
regulations of external monitoring authorities, and that
various departments comply with relevant internal
rules and regulations;

. provide reasonable assurance that significant
measures to achieve the Company’s targets are
properly implemented.
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3.2 Major Processes of Risk Management
Risk management mainly includes four major areas: risks
identification, risks assessment, risks response and risk
monitoring and reporting.

Risks each business and functional department
identification: gng its subsidiaries conducts, once in a
year, an identification of potential internal
and external risks in its respective
operation processes. During risks
identification, references are mainly
made to the impact the risks have on
the Company’s objectives, and major
problems or risk incidents in the business
activities for the past year.

Risks according to the risks assessment
assessment:  standards, each business and functional
department and its subsidiaries reviews
the risks identified, and assesses the
possibilities of occurrence and the
extents of impacts in order to screen out
the significant risks. The Group adopts a
combination of bottom-up and top-down
risk assessment procedures to fully
identify all of the Group’s significant risks,
which are then given rankings. Significant
risks are then reported to the appropriate
management level, Audit Committee and
the Board. A final list of significant risks is
confirmed after thorough communication
and discussion.

Risks response: the responsible department of the
identified risks formulates a risk response
plan by properly applying methods
such as risk avoidance, risk reduction,
risk sharing or risk acceptance, with
consideration of the Group’s level of
risk tolerance. This allows the Group
to properly allocate resources for risk
mitigation or improvements on risk
response measures, with an aim to
reduce the overall risks of the Group to
an acceptable level.

Risks Risk monitoring and reporting are carried
monitoring out by integrating the use of risk warning
and reporting: indicators, internal auditing and periodic

summarized risk reports.
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3.3 Significant Risks 3.3
The Group has conducted a corporate risk review and
assessment for the year 2024 to assess the nature and
extent of risks that the Group is willing to assume in order to
achieve its strategic objectives. During the risk assessment
process, significant risks that may affect the Group’s
strategic objectives in responding to changes in the business
and external environment have been identified. These risks
are prioritised according to their likelihood of occurrence

and the degree of importance of their impact on the Group’s
business. In addition, the Group has put in place corrective
measures to control the risks to an acceptable level.

Risk Type
R B AE A

Macro Economic Risks

REEERR

Risks Relating to Market
Competition

Risk Description

LB gt

Macro economic volatility risks

Advertisers’ advertising investments are affected by the macro-
economic and market conditions in their respective industries.
When the macro economic fluctuates, advertisers will adjust their
marketing and communication promotion strategies according to
their business objectives at different times, and industry demand
will show a significant positive correlation with the fluctuation of
the macro economic accordingly. Therefore, if economic growth
slows down or there is a recession in the future, resulting in a
decline in marketing demand from existing customers, and the
Company fails to adjust its operating policies in a timely manner,
the Company’s operating revenues and results of operations will
be adversely affected to a certain extent.
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Risks relating to market competition

China’s advertising market has a large number of participants
and is in a fully competitive state. With the further maturation
of emerging media such as Internet media and mobile Internet
media, media platforms and advertising carriers have become
more diverse, and the types and number of enterprises competing
in the market are constantly increasing. In order to compete
for customer resources, some media operators often use low-
price competition, which has lowered the overall profit margin
of the industry and made the market competition in the industry
increasingly intense. If the Company is unable to cope with such
competition in the future, advertisers may choose other low-priced
media channels or media resource operators for advertising,
and the Company is at risk of decreasing its market share and
profitability.
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Risk Mitigation Plan
RERESE TS R

The Company will strengthen market
survey and research and analysis,
integrate domestic and international
macroeconomic trends, and formulate
a comprehensive market strategy to
enhance the Company’s ability to resist
risks.

REE IR TS H RN - HEER
INEBEEBS - RAHIEMIHERE -
RITRBIEREES -

The Company will improve its
competitiveness through various
measures such as service innovation
and upgrade, marketing regulation
and marketing policy support, brand
promotion, based on customer needs,
improve service quality, expand brand
awareness, and continuously adjust itself
to the competitive market situation.
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Risk Type
R B EE A

miEH S AR

Risks Relating to Human
Resources

AT EIRER
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Risk Description
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Risks relating to the outflow of talents and risks relating to
staff stability

The development of the Company’s media resources and the
quality of advertising services are closely related to the resources
and quality of the employees. The Company is already facing the
problem of staff turnover due to the macroeconomic environment,
and if timely adjustments are not made to maintain a good talent
cultivation and motivation mechanism, the Company’s operating
conditions will be adversely affected.

AT RERBERA SBEMERE

NEREERNFE  BSEHRBOEBENZABNERM
RATYER  XEBRERRZE - RRICKHEABRKE
B BTREMERETRE - RERFHNASIES - SEESH - &
HRRREERELTFFE

Risk Mitigation Plan
B S R
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The Company will continue to improve
and enhance employee compensation
and benefits, and optimise the
performance appraisal mechanism that
is sharing and responsibility oriented. At
the same time, the Company will ensure
the cohesion and competitiveness of the
team and reduce the risk of talent loss
by establishing a sound talent cultivation
mechanism, creating a good atmosphere
for the rapid growth and development of
talents, strengthening the introduction
of professional talents, promoting an
effective performance management
system and strengthening the humanistic
care of the team.
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Risk Type Risk Description
B BB [ B
Liquidity Risks Operating cash flow turnover risks

Risk Mitigation Plan
EREEL S =

The Company manages capital flows

Due to the characteristics of the advertising industry, the media  scientifically, formulates capital plans,
in the advertising media agency business generally requires pre-  rationalizes the use of the Company’s
broadcast payment, and the Company generally provides a  capital, improves the efficiency of capital
certain credit period for quality customers; at the same time, the  Utilization and relieves the Company’s
exclusive advertising agency business and customer tenders ~ Capital pressure. The Company keeps
require payment to the media and customer deposits, and the  track of customers’ credit and provides
timing of payment from customers to the Company is relatively them with payment tenjms for specmlc
uncertain, resulting in a certain amount of capital occupation ::;:glicts based on their current credit
pressure on the Company. '

B R KRR RAERE AREHHESRBBERETHERRE
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Financial Management Risk relating to large scale and high concentration of = The Company requires the business
Risks accounts receivable department to sort out the billing period
As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Company had a  and recovery status of the existing

relatively large balance of accounts receivable. The closing ~ @ccounts receivable, verify each of

balance of accounts receivable from the top five customers ~ the accounts receivable with overdue

accounted for 54% of the closing balance of accounts receivable, ~ Period, and clarify with customers the

representing a relatively high concentration of accounts ~ '€COVvery arrangement to reduce the

receivable. If factors such as the macroeconomic environment, SO TS Irece|va‘b|e N

industry fluctuations and the tightening of the monetary and UWOSei ) Wll.l Fake into account

. . s ) the market conditions, contractual

capital environment affect the liquidity of customers in the future, arrangements and historical payback

or if the Company is unable to collect a large amount of accounts g turnove;

receivable in a timely manner for various reasons, the Company days for accounts receivable and

is exposed to the risk of prolonging the aging of accounts conduct strict two-way control by the

receivable, decreasing the recovery rate, increasing the provision Finance Department and the Business

for bad debts, and the need to provide for bad debts for some Department, and if necessary, legal
customers’ accounts receivable, which will adversely affect the  professionals will intervene and take legal
Company’s cash flow and consequently the Company’s profit. measures such as litigation, seizure and

freezing to recover.
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Internal Control Objectives

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to supervise the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system, and
a sound and effective internal control system is achieved
through a management structure with explicit authorisation
and internal monitoring accountability. The objectives are:

o to reasonably assure that the enterprise is operated
and managed in compliance with the laws and
regulations, the safety of assets, and the authenticity
and completeness of its financial reports and related
information;

. to enhance operating efficiency and effectiveness; and

o to promote the achievement of the enterprise’s
development strategies.

Internal Control

The Group has referred to the COSO (the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission)
framework, and incorporated the Company’s business
management characteristics in the design of its internal
control system, independent from operational management
and was granted full access to information subject to access
information which was needed for internal audit inspection.
The Group has conducted a risk-oriented internal control
review of key processes such as sales and collections,
daily fund management, procurement and payment for
the major operating entity companies in 2023. During the
internal control and audit process, recommendations for
improvement were made to address the identified internal
control deficiencies and weaknesses, and internal audit
findings and control weaknesses were communicated
with the internal audit team and management, who are
responsible for ensuring that internal control deficiencies
are improved within a reasonable period of time. The
Company will continue to follow up on the rectification and
improvement of internal control findings to ensure that the
rectification plan is implemented. The management and the
Audit Committee reviewed the internal control assessment
reports, and assessed the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. The scope
of the review included the Group’s major control and risk
management functions, such as financial control, operations
control and compliance control.
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As of December 31 2024, given that the Group’s revenue for
the year was predominantly derived from the E-Commerce
business (comprising the E-commerce business of used
electronic products, and provision of Software-as-a-Service
(“SaaS”)), while the Advertising Division’s revenue contribution
has shown a declining trend, the Board resolved, following
deliberation, to implement internal control measures targeting
specific areas exclusively within the E-Commerce Division for
the current year. The Board considered that, the Group had
carried out internal control’s “plan, review, report and follow-
up” processes of the close-loop management system under
E-Commerce Division, that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems were effective and adequate
under E-Commerce Division, that the Company’s procedures
on financial reporting and the compliance of the provisions
under the Listing Rules were effective and adequate and that
no significant areas of concemn that might affect the Group’s
financial control, operations control, compliance control and
risk management functions under E-Commerce Division had
been identified.

In the process of the review, the Board considered that the
resources, qualifications, experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting, as well as their training
sessions and budget were adequate.

Inside Information

The Company is aware of and strictly complies with the
requirements of the currently applicable laws, regulations
and guidelines, including the obligations to disclose inside
information under the SFO and the Listing Rules, and the
Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by
the Securities and Futures Commission, at the time when
the relevant businesses are transacted. The Group has
established the authority and accountability, as well as the
handling and dissemination procedures in relation to inside
information, and has communicated to all relevant personnel
and provided them with specific trainings in respect of the
implementation of the continuous disclosure policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s handling and
dissemination procedures and measures in relation to inside
information are effective.

4.3
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The Board presents its annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
the Group include the provision of advertising services to our customers,
e-commerce business of used electronic products and provision of
Software-as-a-Service.

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period,
including an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators and an indication of likely future
developments of the Group’s business are set out under the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report. These discussions form part of this
Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The business operations and results of the Group may be affected by
various factors, including but not limited to the risks relating to the Group,
our industry, conducting business in the PRC. The Board is aware
that the Group is exposed to various risks. Except as disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report to the Group's risk and uncertainties, the
other principal risks and uncertainties affected the Group are summarised
below:

(0] The Group has a concentrated customer base and the strong
market positions of our major customers may limit our bargaining
power when entering into contracts with these major customers;

(ii) The cash flow of the Group may deteriorate due to material
payment delays by our customers which may negatively affect our
business, financial position and results of operations;

(iii) The Group has a concentrated supplier base and any increases in
cost of the advertising resources provided by our major suppliers
could materially and adversely affect our results of operations,
financial position and business prospects;

(iv)  The Group may experience fluctuations in the gross profit margin
for our advertising services; and

(v) The business of the Group may be affected by seasonal fluctuation
in demand for our advertising services of customers in different
industries.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to support environmental protection to ensure
business development and sustainability. The Group implement green
office practices to reduce the consumption of energy and natural
resources. These practices include the use of energy-saving lightings and
recycled paper, reduce energy consumption by switching off idle lightings,
computers and electrical appliances and the use of environmentally
friendly products whenever possible.

A separate environmental, social and governance report is expected to be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website
at the same date with this annual report has been published.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group continues to keep abreast of requirements of the relevant laws
and regulation.

The Group had complied with all relevant PRC laws and regulations in
all material respects including the Advertising Law of the PRC({F# A
REMBESE)), Interim Measures for the Administration of Internet
Advertising ((E B A E 4 B IR E1TH#EZ) ) and the Company Law of PRC
((pEE A R MBE A ALY ) during the Reporting Period. The Group
has obtained all requisite licenses, permits and certificates necessary to
conduct the operations in material respects from relevant PRC regulatory
authorities.

The Group had also complied with all relevant Hong Kong Laws and
regulations in all material respects including the Company Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules and the SFO.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out under the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and cost of revenue
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
Reporting Period is as follows:

The largest supplier BAHIERD
Five largest suppliers AR ER
The largest customer BREP
Five largest customers AREF

According to the understanding of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their close associates or any Shareholders who owned more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital had any interests in the five largest
customers or suppliers at any time during the Reporting Period.

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 140 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period and the Group’s state of
affairs as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

The Company currently does not have any predetermined dividend payout
ratio. A decision to declare or pay any dividend and the amount of any
dividends depends on a number of factors, including but not limited
to our results of operations, financial position, working capital, capital
requirements and other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Company has adopted dividend policy. For details regarding the
dividend policy of the Company, please refer to section headed “Corporate
Governance Report — Dividend Policy”.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).
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SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period and as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 69 of this
annual report.

As at 31 December 2024, the distributable reserves of the Company
available for distribution amounted to approximately RMB169,432,000.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donation during the Reporting
Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Reporting Period and up to the
date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Sun Changpeng (Chairman of the Board) (appointed on 21 June 2024)
Mr. Leng Xuejun (Vice Chairman of the Board)

Ms. Wang Xin (removed on 1 March 2025)

Ms. Li Na (resigned on 21 June 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Niu Zhongjie (@appointed on 21 June 2024)

Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen (appointed on 3 September 2024)
Mr. Wong Sincere (appointed on 3 Septermber 2024)

Mr. Li Xue (resigned on 3 September 2024)

Mr. Wu Ke (resigned on 3 September 2024)

Mr. How Sze Ming (resigned on 21 June 2024)
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In accordance with articles 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Sun
Changpeng, Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen, Mr. Wong Sincere, Mr. Niu Zhongjie
will retire at the AGM, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

CHANGE IN THE INFORMATION OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management”, during the Reporting Period, there has been no change in
the information of the Directors as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company. The principal particulars of these service contracts are (i)
for a term of three years commencing from their respective effective date
of appointment; and (i) are subject to termination in accordance with their
respective terms.

None of the Directors has entered into, or has proposed to enter into, a
service contract with us that is not determinable by the employer within
one year without the payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of its Independent Non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND LONG-TERM INCENTIVE
SCHEMES

To attract and retain employees of the Group, the Group provides
competitive remuneration packages to its executive Directors and senior
management. These comprise salaries and allowance, performance
related bonuses, retirement benefits contributions and long-term incentive
plan which includes Share Option Scheme. The remuneration package of
executives Directors and senior management is reference to salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The performance related bonuses are calculated based on our
employees’ respective position, duration of services and performance of
our employees. The Group assesses the remuneration package offered to
our employees on an annual basis to determine whether any adjustment
to the basic salaries and bonus should be made.

The remuneration payable to our employees includes salaries and
allowance, performance related bonuses and retirement benefits
contributions. The salaries of our employees are generally determined
by the employees’ respective position, qualification, experience and
performance. The performance related bonuses are calculated based on
our employees’ respective position, duration of services and performance
of our employees. In order to attract and retain our employees, we assess
the remuneration package offered to our employees on an annual basis to
determine whether any adjustment to the basic salaries and bonus should
be made.

We provide training programmes for all of our employees to enhance our
employees’ knowledge, skills and capability relevant to the advertising
industry. All of our new hires will be provided with an induction programme
to familiarise with the Group, followed by on-the-job training based on
departmental needs and the development strategies of the Group. We
also provide promotion opportunities for capable employees as we have
policies and procedures setting out the assessment criteria for promotion.

The non-executive Directors’ remuneration relates to the time commitment
and responsibilities. They receive fees which comprise the following
components:

i) Directors’ fees, which are usually paid annually; and

(ii) Share options which are rewarded subject to the discretion of the
Board.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 107 full-time
employees (31 December 2023: 36). Compared with the total number of
employees in 2023, the number of employees in 2024 has increased due
to the acquisition of e-commerce business of used electronic products.

During the Reporting Period, the relevant staff costs amounted to
approximately RMB11,199,000 (2023: approximately RMB6,602,000). For
details, please refer to note 13 to the financial statements of this annual
report.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The PRC employees of the Group are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit plan operated by the government of the PRC. The
PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to contribute a specified
percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit plan to fund the
employee benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified contributions. No
forfeited contribution under this scheme is available to reduce contribution
obligation in accordance with the laws and regulations in the PRC.

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes operated by the Group are
set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Neither the Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party subsisting during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors, or any
of their spouse or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe
for equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate
or had exercised any such right.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for service contracts of the Directors, no contract concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of
the business of the Company was entered into by the Company or existed
during the Reporting Period.
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INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS'’ LIABILITIES INSURANCE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may incur
or sustain by the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise
in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
covering the potential legal actions against its Directors and Officers. The
insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis. For the Reporting
Period, no claim has been made against Directors and Officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save and except for the interests of our Controlling Shareholders in
our Company, during the Reporting Period, neither our Controlling
Shareholders nor any of our Directors and their respective close associates
(other than members of the Group) has any interest in a business, apart
from the business of the Group, which competes or likely compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group which would require
disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company and its
Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2024, there is no interests and/or short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise should be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares FTERRAROREBRAF ZEZRE AR

and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, as recorded R2024F 128318 * MEFFRA » BIEBEARRFIEZRES
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 MEREIEPIEI36IEFEMELMAATREEE - MTAL (R
of the SFO, the following persons (other than the Directors and the chief NRIEFHHmEITERABRIN AR BRAREIARD AE
executives of the Company) or companies had interests or short positions BARR D R HE B IRIE B S R ARG EXVERE2 35 EB AR
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be RAT R RN ERDSORE

disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange in accordance with
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares interest
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest and Capacity or securities held™ in the Company
A ERER
REERE EEMERSH FERDRBSHE " BB
Ms. Li Ye Beneficial owner 64,000,000 (L) 11.43%
S BaaA 64,000,000 (L) 11.43%
Mr. Sang Kangqiao Beneficial owner 140,000,000 (L) 25.00%
RRSEE EnEEA 140,000,000 (L) 25.00%
Notes: Vo
(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s “long position” (as defined under Part XV of the (1) [L]|FRFTRZAFREZRGH B [LEE ] (R0755 % B 1502
SFO) in such Shares. XVESFFRES) o

54 o Qian XunTechnology Limited / Annual Report 2024 g



Directors’ Report
EEEWmE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors were not
aware of any other persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange in accordance with Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the
register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s securities during the Reporting Period.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding the Company’s securities.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted by written resolutions passed by
its Shareholders on 22 October 2019.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to eligible participants ("Eligible Participants") (including (i) any
full-time or part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries; (i) any Directors of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; (iii) any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers and
agents to the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (iv) such other
persons, who, in the sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have
contributed to the Group) an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives:

(0} motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(ii) attracting and retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going business
relationships with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are
or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.
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The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in compliance with the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Details of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme are set out below. The Directors may, at its
absolute discretion, make an offer to grant options to any employee of the
Group, any non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive
Directors), any suppliers, any customers, any adviser or any participants
who shall be determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis
that the Directors’ opinion as to his contribution to the development and
growth of the Group. The maximum number of ordinary shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue upon the Listing
(the Company may refresh this 10% limit under certain conditions) or 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time where there are options to be
granted and yet to be exercised. As no offer for grant of share options has
ever been made under the scheme, the total number of Shares underlying
the share options available for grant is 40,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total number of issued shares as at the date
of this annual report. As there are no options granted under the scheme
and hence there are no outstanding options under the scheme, the total
number of Shares available for issued under the scheme is zero. The total
number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) to each Eligible Participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
as at the date of grant. Any further grant of options which would result in
the number of ordinary shares exceeding 1% requires a Shareholder's
approval with the relevant participant and his/her close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) (or his/her associates if the Eligible Participant
is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The offer of a grant of
share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date the offer
together with the consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised will
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than ten years after it has been granted.
All outstanding options shall lapse, among other circumstances, when
the grantee ceases to be a participant of the Share Option Scheme by
reason of the termination of his/her employment/death. No option may be
granted more than 10 years after the date of approval of the Share Option
Scheme by the Shareholders of the Company (the “Adoption Date”).
Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or by the
Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years from the Adoption Date.
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The exercise price a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the Board in its
absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price will not be less
than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a day
on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

@iy ~ the nominal value of a Share.

As at 31 December 2024, there was no option outstanding, granted,
cancelled, exercised or lapsed.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than Share Option Scheme as disclosed above, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that
require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during
the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not enter any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which should be
disclosed pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Directors consider that all the related party transactions disclosed
in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements did not fall under
the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which are required to comply with any of the reporting, annual review,
announcement, or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that
it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

As at the date of this report, there was no material outstanding or pending
litigation and arbitration for the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the
minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules during
the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the

laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Loss of Control and Ownership in a Subsidiary

On or about 7 February 2025, the Company discovered that the legal
representatives of several PRC subsidiaries had been changed to Ms.
Wang Xin (the former executive director and Chairlady of the Board of the
Company) without proper Board authorization. Upon investigation, it was
found that these changes may involve the use of forged documents. The
Company has reported the relevant situation to the police in the PRC and
Hong Kong.

Save and except for Lingyu (Beijing) Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (%85 (1t &)
XA BB R A 7)) (“Lingyu Beijing”), the legal representatives of those
PRC subsidiaries have been changed back to the authorized officers of
the Company, and the Company has resumed control over those PRC
subsidiaries by the end of February 2025.

The legal representative of Lingyu Beijing was changed to Sun Xiaoming,
an associate of Ms. Wang Xin, on 17 February 2025. Without the
knowledge of the Company, all equity of Lingyu Beijing was secretly sold
to an outside party on 19 February 2025.

Legal Action Taken by the Company:

The Company has engaged PRC legal counsel to advise on the possible
cause of action against Ms. Wang Xin and/or other parties for the recovery
of Lingyu Beijing’s equity. Based on the publicly available records, the
equity of Lingyu Beijing has been transferred three times — first to Beijing
Zhiang Trading Co., Ltd.* (L RS E HHEMRAF] ) on 19 February 2025,
then to Jilin Chuangfeng Investment Co., Ltd.* (5 AIEIREBRAF])
on 25 February 2025, and finally to Zhongke Guorong Non-Performing
Asset Disposal (Shandong) Co., Ltd.* (A RIBE R AR EER S (1LUR)
A BR A 7)) on 10 March 2025. These repeated transfers complicate the
legal process, as each transfer may involve additional parties and legal
complexities, potentially making recovery more challenging.

Commencement of legal action against Ms. Wang Xin

Beijing Rui Sincere commenced legal proceedings against, among others,
Ms. Wang Xin for her alleged misconduct. On 21 March 2025, the legal
action was officially accepted by the Chaoyang District People’s Court in
Beijing (Case No.: (2025) Jing 0105 Min Chu 49583).

Primarily, Beijing Rui Sincere is seeking damages for the harm caused
to the Company due to Ms. Wang Xin’s alleged misconduct, including
unauthorized changes to legal representatives, forgery of signatures,
and the secret sale of Lingyu Beijing’s equity. The Company will submit
additional evidence to the court in due course. The court has not yet
notified the trial date, and whether the Company can recover the equity of
Lingyu Beijing will depend on the court’s further investigation and the trial
process.

Lingyu Beijing is a company incorporated in the PRC with net liabilities of
approximately RMB45,345,000 as of 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no significant subsequent events
that need to be disclosed as of 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on Wednesday,
25 June 2025. The notice of AGM will be sent to Shareholders in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed for the following
periods:

For the purpose of determining shareholders who are entitled to attend
and vote at the AGM to be held on Wednesday, 25 June 2025, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 20
June 2025 to Wednesday, 25 June 2025, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Union Registrars Limited
at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s
Road, North Point, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Thursday, 19 June 2025.

AUDITOR

Prism Hong Kong Limited has audited the attached financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024, which were prepared pursuant
to International Financial Reporting Standards. Prism Hong Kong
Limited shall retire in the forthcoming annual general meeting and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Prism Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and to authorize the Board to fix their remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen (the chairlady),
Mr. Wong Sincere and Mr. Niu Zhongjie. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors, review of the Company’s
financial information, and oversight of the Company’s financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk management, internal
control and financial reporting matters.

By Order of the Board
Qian Xun Technology Limited
Sun Changpeng

Chairman

31 March 2025
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF QIAN XUN TECHNOLOGY LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS “RUICHENG (CHINA) MEDIA GROUP
LIMITED”)

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qian Xun
Technology Limited (formerly known as “Ruicheng (China) Media Group
Limited”) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 139, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS Accounting Standards”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

B ZBEHRE

LOSS ALLOWANCE ON OF TRADE RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in note 3.

The key audit matter

As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amount of the Group’s
trade receivables and prepayments
and other receivables are
approximately RMB81,043,000
and RMB220,320,000, net of
accumulated loss allowance on
trade receivables and prepayments
and other receivables of
approximately RMB141,841,000
and RMBA45,831,000, respectively.

In assessing the loss allowance
made under the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model, the
management of the Group used
judgements and estimates to
determine the historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking
information specific to the debtors
and their economic environments.

We have identified the loss
allowance on trade receivables and
prepayments and other receivables
as a key audit matter because
the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and prepayments and
other receivables are significant
to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and there is
involvement of a significant degree
of judgements and estimates made
by management of the Group.

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

Our audit procedures were designed
to review the management estimation
on ECL model adopted for the loss
allowance on trade receivables and
prepayments and other receivables.

We have obtained an understanding
of the methodology for the ECL
model, development processes and
its relevant controls through review
of documentation, discussion with
management of the Group.

We have challenged the reasonableness
of the significant judgements and
estimates, including use of significant
unobservable inputs adopted in the
ECL estimation by the management of
the Group.

We have also assessed the
appropriateness of the methodology
and examined the inputs data used with
reference to the latest available general
economic data and the repayment
record against the Group’s historical
trends and credit loss experience.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

B ZBENHRE

VALUATION AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON
INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Refer to note 19 and note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies in note 3.

The key audit matter

During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group acquired
100% equity interest in Qian Xun
International Limited (formerly known
as Charm Linkage Holding Limited)
and its subsidiaries (“Qian Xun
International”) with consideration of
approximately RMB85,171,000.

Pursuant to IFRS 3 Business
Combinations, the purchase
price is required to be allocated
between the acquired assets and
liabilities, resulting in the recognition
of intangible assets and goodwill
or recognition of gain on bargain
purchase. This requires a significant
amount of judgement in the
Purchase Price Allocation Exercise
("PPA"), particularly in relation to
the assessment of the fair value of
the acquired assets and liabilities at
acquisition date and the recognition
of the related intangible assets and
goodwill from the acquisitions.
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How the matter was addressed in
our audit

We have discussed with management
to understand internal control and
estimates used by the independent
professional valuer engaged by the
Group in the valuation and impairment
of intangible assets and goodwill,
including revenue growth rates, gross
sales margins and pre-tax discount
rates;

We have assessed the competence,
ability and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer engaged by the
Group;

We have discussed with management
on the purchase price allocation,
including identification and valuation of
the intangible assets and goodwill;

We have challenged the reasonableness
of the key assumptions of the PPA
exercise, such as the discount rates
and estimates of future cash flows;

We have assessed the impairment
testing performed by the independent
professional valuer engaged by the
Group;
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Independent Auditors’ Report

B ZBEHRE

VALUATION AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON
INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Refer to note 19 and note 21 to the consolidated financial statements and

the accounting policies in note 3.

The key audit matter

As at 31 December 2024, the
carrying amounts of intangible
assets and goodwill were
approximately RMB28,001,000 and
RMB67,477,000 respectively. The
Group performed impairment testing
on the intangible assets and goodwill
annually based on the value-in-use
calculation of the cash-generating
units. There was no impairment loss
on intangible assets and goodwill
during the reporting period.

We have identified the valuation
and impairment assessment on
intangible assets and goodwill as
a key audit matter because the
carrying amounts of intangible assets
and goodwill are significant to the
consolidated financial statements
as a whole and involvements of
significant judgement and estimation
made by independent professional
valuer engaged by the Group.

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

We have tested the profit forecasts and
cash flow projections and compared
with actual results available up to the
report date;

We have challenged the appropriateness
of the judgements and estimates used
in the profit forecasted sales and gross
profit margins, against latest available
information; and

We have challenged the discount rate
adopted in the value-in-used calculation
by reviewing its basis of calculation.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B RS

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B AR S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concemn. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
the purpose of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Fung Shing Bun, Spencer.

Prism Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Fung Shing Bun, Spencer
Practising Certificate Number: PO7451

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
EL22024F 12431 HILF)E

Revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit
Other income, gains and losses
Selling and marketing expenses
Administrative expenses
Finance costs
Provision for loss allowances of
financial assets and contract assets, net

Loss before tax
Income tax (expense)/credit

Loss and total comprehensive expenses
for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share attributable to the owners
of the Company
Basic and diluted (RMB cents)

g
Y g PR A

EF

HipA - ez K gsig

HEREHRAX

G1EGE

CREERANEEFHEER
BiEatie

ERBLATES 1R
Pt (F0), %

FEEBERREEMAXHAE

THBIAREN
EA/NSIE SN
FRIER R an

RARER ARIESRER

ERREEANRED)

Notes
FaE

10

11

12

13

17

idated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
356,833 378,707
(334,337) (355,142)
22,496 23,565
7,596 3,430
(5,978) (2,609)
(17,109) (8,203)
(4,915) (7,320)
(125,150) (40,932)
(123,060) (32,069)
(651) 8,718
(123,711) (23,351)
(123,702) (23,471)
9) 120
(123,711) (23,351)
(25.81) (5.87)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR R

As at 31 December 2024

R2024F12531H
2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(b ARETT ARETF T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment BE RFEE 18 387 319
Intangible assets mEAE 19 28,001 17
Deferred tax assets RERITBEE 20 15,629 20,765
Goodwil [EES 21 67,477 -
111,494 21,101
Current assets REVEE
Inventories FE 22 9,354 =
Trade receivables, prepayments and B SRR - FENFRIER
other receivables H bR 23 304,215 518,563
Amounts due from related companies V HﬁZF i /NG)| /TAIE 33(b) 157 100
Contract assets ARNEE 24 - 18,038
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED 25 33,966 17,854
347,692 554,555
Total assets BEEHLE 459,186 575,656
Capital and reserves BAR &
Share capital A& A< 31 5,043 3,578
Reserves & 148,779 179,211
Equity attributable to owners of RKATEE AESLER
the Company 153,822 182,789
Non-controlling interests IR R (25) (16)
153,797 182,773
Current liabilities REBARE
Trade and other payables B 5 MEMEMNFKIE 26 136,811 210,894
Contingent consideration payable FERSARE 27 28,797 =
Amount due to a director B —RESFIE 28 14,673 14,673
Tax payables FESBEIE 1,692 1,258
Contract liabilities aaE 29 34,448 17,074
Bank and other borrowings RITREMER 30 80,000 118,984
Deferred tax liabilities BERIA A E 20 6,997 =
303,418 362,883
Non-current liability Bk h=R i
Bank and other borrowings HRITREMER 30 1,971 30,000
Total liabilities B &858 305,389 392,883
Total equity and liabilities ERRaERs 459,186 575,656

FOTR139EMERA MRS EEETEN2025F3H31
BHUERRETE  YHTIEERRES

The consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 139 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025 and
are signed on its behalf by:

Sun Chang Peng Leng Xuejun

BRERE REE
Director Director
EE 0
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idated Statement of Changes in Equity

an
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B2 2024F 12731 HIFF/E
Attributable to owners of the Company
KRAREARE
Non-
Share Share Merger Capital ~ Statutory  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
Re  RGEE  AfRE  EARE O EERE  REE & FERER  ERAE
RMB0O0  RMB'000  RMBOO0  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'OO0  RMB000  RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR
Note () Note (i) Note (ii
B (IR} B
At 1 January 2023 20231 A1A 3,578 89,940 90,734 (62,481) 16,589 57,900 206,260 (136) 206,124
Loss and total comprehensive expense FREERZAEN T
for the year - - - - - (28411) (23471) 120 (23,351)
Transfer o statutory reserve ERTETRE - - - - % (8 - - -
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31A 3578 89,940 90,734 (52,481) 16,617 34,401 182,789 (16) 182,773
Loss and total comprehensive expense ERBARZERZAE
for the year = = = = - (BT (123702 O (237
Placing of shares (Note 31() RERR (ks 730 35,219 = = - - 35,049 = 35,949
Issue of shares (Note 31(i) SR (HEE1() 7% 58,051 - - - - 58,786 = 58786
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-FHEAR - - - - (2,500 2,500 = 5 5
Transfer to statutory resenve ERTHTHE - - - - 95 (045) = = =
As at 31 December 2024 20245127318 5043 183,210 90,734 (62,481) 15,062 (87,746) 163,822 (29) 163,797
Notes: Bist:

U

(i)

(i)

On 27 March 2019, Qingdao Ruicheng Jiaye Advertising Co., Ltd.* (& &7
EELEBRAE]) (“Qingdao Ruicheng Jiaye”) acquired the entire equity interest in
Beijing Ruicheng with the consideration of RMBZ2 million when the then net assets
value of Beijing Ruicheng was approximately RMB92,734,000. The difference
amount of approximately RMB90, 734,000 was credit to merger reserve and the
then issued capital of Bejjing Ruicheng of RMBS80,800,000 was transferred to
capital reserve upon the completion of the reorganisation.

Capital reserve represents (i) the difference between the consideration paid for the
acquisition of addiitional equity interests in subsidiaries and the carrying value of the
additional equity interests of the subsidiaries acquired; (i) the difference between
the consideration received for the disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries and the
carrying value of the disposed equity interests of the subsidiaries, (i) the difference
between capital contribution from an owner of the Group and paid- in capital;
(iv) adjustment arising from the Group Reorganisation in note (ifj); (v) deemed
distribution as part of the Group Reorganisation in note (iv);, and (vi) distribution to
the former owners of the Group’s subsidiary.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and relevant PRC laws and regulations,
these subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their profit after tax,
which is determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations,
to a statutory reserve (including the general reserve fund and enterprise expansion
fund, where appropriate). Transfer to this statutory reserve is subject to the
approval of the respective board of directors, and is discretionary when the balance
of such fund has reached 50% of the registered capital of the respective company.
Statutory reserve can only be used to offset accumulated losses or to increase
capital of the relevant subsidiaries.

English name is for identification purpose only

(i

(i)

R2019F3 427 AL Rim a4 & F 18 ZA K 92,734,000
B EEmiEEEEERAR([EShHEE)UAEAR
M2 B BT YW REIL TR 2 BEIRIE o BT £ + EREARK
90,734,0007TiI A& GEE B ML Rl &5 5 BT EAA R
80,800,000 #2752 E X515 -

B FEIE) KB 2 AR RAEE Y BB E K FE I B 23 A
ISR IERRIETE.Z 87 - () BB 2 BIREE W ELLL &Y
BRFRERAEERE ()T EBEFFANEEEHER
FERE ¢ (V)P AT A B B A E YR ()R EDIR (TER
Bt (v)prit A EEEAE) —EF ) © R(vi) 2R T A FE B E 2 A
FHEBA °

WRIERAEA LTI ([ 61]) B 37 9 1188 22 w22 7] 2 FE Al
R R BB R AERMA - ZSHE L FIAZ T B & E R R
FIE - BT LR BR G TG 10%ERETHRE (T EE—
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A L=
GERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 12531 H1FF/E
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FaE AR¥ T ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KESEE)
Loss before tax R A ETIE (123,060) (32,069)
Adjustments for: AT FIBEEL AR
Amortisation of intangible assets R EE#E 19 1,222 5
Depreciation of plant and equipment BE REETE 18 31 24
Interest income FBHA 9 (258) (45)
Finance costs BB R 10 4,915 7,320
Fair value change of contingent consideration — FEft sl AR BRI QA EE
payable 27 2,412 =
Government grants AT B 9 - (2,648)
Provision for loss allowance of financial assets ~ & &IEE M A K EERBEE
and contract assets HE7S 11 125,150 40,932
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—fEHB A R 2 M 36 (9,304) =
Operating cash flow before movements HEESHBINKCERSRE
in working capital 1,108 13,519
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, B ZREWIE - BRFIER
prepayments and other receivables o EUGRIER L (35 00) 21,651 (141,726)
Decrease in contract assets BREERD 18,983 122,169
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities BHAEREEN (RD) 37,624 (21,185)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R B ZIEE N (14,549) (1,547)
Increase in inventories FEEM (5,311) -
Cash generated from/(used) in operations &E&EL (FTH)RE 59,506 (28,770)
Interest paid BEFE (4,665) (5,538)
Guarantee fee paid BEERE (360) (1,791)
Income tax paid BRETSH (522) (405)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED) IN REEEBEE (TR RSTFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 53,959 (36,504)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETEH
Interest received BHFE 9 258 45
Change in amounts due from related parties JE LS R RS: 5 BB 33 (57) 111
Purchase of plant and equipment EEmE MEE 18 (82) -
Proceeds on disposal of a subsidiary & — AT E A R ETS 08 36 184 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries UK BB B A R 35 1,984 =
NET CASH GENERATED FROM INVESTING REZBELRSFH
ACTIVITIES 2,287 156
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEES
Advance from a director EEBR - 14,673
New bank and other borrowings raised ERAFMGIRIT R EMER 37 89,401 115,000
Government grants received B YBUT B 9 - 2,648
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BIRRITREAMERK 37 (165,484) (83,200)
Proceeds from placing of shares B & MR D TS UE 35,949 -
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM Bi&EE (FiH) ELBHESFHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (40,134) 49,121
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRREEEYEMFE
EQUIVALENTS 16,112 12,773
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE REMNESRBESEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 17,854 5,081
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE RERNBESRESSEY
END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY RRARESRRESEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 33,966 17,854
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

H 2202412731 HIFFE
1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Qian Xun Technology Limited (formerly known as “Ruicheng (China)
Media Group Limited”) (the “Company”) was incorporated and
registered as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability under Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, on 15
January 2019 and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
12 November 2019.

The address of the Company’s registered office is 190 Elgin
Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands
and the principal place of business is 1716-01, 15th Floor, No.
32 Liangmagiao Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing. the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”).

During the year, the Company is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the following principal
activities:

- Provision of advertising services; and

- E-commerce business of used electronic products, and
provision of Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) (“E-commerce
business”).

During the year, the Group established a new line of E-commerce
business through acquisition of subsidiaries.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. The Company and its subsidiaries are hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”.
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HRGE BB 32 5% 15 8 1716-01 °

FR - ARRAR—HREZERARRAWMBARE
ERBEATEEER

= REEERS - &
- CFEFEMNE TS ER REBHEMAE
AR5 ([SaaS MRi%)) ([EFBEBER])

FR - AEEERBRBHBARRIEZMEFEHS
E30
FEBBEVBRRAARE(TARED 2 - ™

ARETBERRINEERE - RTXARE REM
BRARGHAIARER] -

P FTEHRARRE/ Z2-OFFH o 71




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR AR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BL22024F 12431 HILFIE

2.  APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”)

Amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
following amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) which are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning 1 January 2024.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to IAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements

IFRS 7

The application of the amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards
in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and position for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

F& F3 37 5T B ARAE AT Bl i B 165 4 15 22 R (T B R B 5
WmEER SR

SRR B IS SR & Rl 5H R

EALKEF AEEHAEARBEB ST ERNESS
(BEEesrEESEe ) EMR 2024 F1 A1 H
F»ﬁizuE’Jﬂxﬁ@Hﬂﬁzir‘b&ﬂ’ﬂﬂl%ﬁ%i&%ﬁ
A FTERNSET A -

BB BHREENE 16 SRERTHEHEER
SRERTA
BEREetERE15%E HBRESEARYAE
QTK ZX?Em@JEE
REFTENE 15RE  MERENERBAE
Jﬁ

KRR 7KL HEFRELH
BIFR AT i AR RISE 7
SRAERTAS

RAFE e RBRM BRSNS ERNET AN
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.
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H 2202412731 HIFFE
2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards issued
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'
Amendments to IFRS 9 and ~ Amendments to the Classification

IFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to IFRS 9 and  Contracts Referencing Nature-
IFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

Amendments to IFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards —

Volume 112
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to IFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture #

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

Except for the new IFRS Accounting Standards mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, which
sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
This new IFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of
the requirements in IAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit
or loss; provides disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Minor amendments to IAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and IAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.

IFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application of the new standard
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of IFRS 18 on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

P& F3 37 5T B ARAE AT Bl iR B 65 3 15 22 R ([ Bl R B 5
WmEER SRR (B

BB I RAE BT RT RAMER] BR B 3R 5
RIS R

NG B B AR A A T B AR B i R AR RO T
RABERTRIR M S R AR -

BREFHERE 21 FETA R Al

BERSBREENFINEE SRTANBRHEZE?
R RETERIE 7 R
AR

BERGBRELNFIREE FREBERNTNNEH?
RABREERE 7 R

BES
ERMHEEEAETEAE  ARMBRSENSIERE
A RAE—E 152
BRIBEEEAE 18 RUBRRZZIIREE®
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Ze
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved where the Group has:
o power over the investee;

° exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

o the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group’s returns.

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

3.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All'intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between entities of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners
of the Company. The amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets and
liabilities.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
processes are considered substantive if they are critical to the ability
to continue producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the
related processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to
continue producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce
or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisition of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as incurred.
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(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o Deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to the acquiree’s employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income
Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits, respectively;

o Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangement of the acquiree or the replacement
of the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with
the share-based payment transactions of the Group are
measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
at the acquisition date; and

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non- controlling interests in
the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset
or a liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date, and
changes in fair value are recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. For the purposes of
impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually
or more frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting
period, the cash-generating unit (or groups of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the
unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or groups of cash- generating units). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill
is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services
to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those services.
Specifically, the Group uses a five-step approach to recognise
revenue:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services underlying

the particular performance obligation is transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a service that is distinct.
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(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;
or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer,
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties, discounts
and sales related taxes.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct service.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration from the customer. A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be recognised.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major sources:
. Advertising services, including Television (“TV”), online,

outdoor and other advertising services, are principal activities
from which the Group generated its revenue.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

Television

Revenue from TV advertising services is primarily derived
from the placement of advertisements on TV channels or
variety shows. Revenue from services rendered is recognised
in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion
is determined by the actual broadcasted TV advertisements
and verified by reports issued by an independent third party
with relevant qualification and experience, which evidenced
the advertisement actually broadcasted.

Online

Revenue from online advertising services is primarily derived
from the placement of advertisements on platforms such as
websites, mobile applications, social media platforms and
search engines. The Group utilised a pricing model based
on specific terms of the contract which are commonly based
on cost per click or cost per mille, which means the cost per
1,000 advertisement impressions regardless of whether the
advertisement is being clicked by the viewers. The revenue
from online advertising services on cost per click or cost per
mille basis is recognised over the service period based on
the actual clicks or views of the advertisement and verified
by reports issued by an independent third party with relevant
qualification and experience, which evidenced the clicks or
views of the advertisement actually performed.

Outdoor

Revenue from outdoor advertising services is primarily
derived from the placement of advertisements on outdoor
platforms such as LED screens on or in buildings, metros
or advertising light boxes in car shelters. The revenue is
recognised over the service period based on an advertising
schedule confirmed by customers.

E-commerce business, including sales of used electronic
products and SaaS services, is the new operational activity
after the completion of acquisition of Qian Xun International.

Sales of used electronic products

Revenue from sales of used electronic products is primarily
derived from the transaction on the E-commerce platform.
Revenue from sales of used electronic products rendered is
recognised at a point in time when the product is delivered
to customers.

SaaS services

Revenue from SaaS services is recognised over the
service period based on the agreed service terms as the
performance obligation is satisfied.
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(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control of services.

Leasing

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of offices that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets.to leases of office equipment and laptop computers
that are considered to be of low value. Lease payments on short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in
a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair
value are included in profit or loss for the period.
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(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income/a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which they become receivable.
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(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits cost

The Group participates in a defined contribution retirement scheme
organised by the government in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The Group is required to contribute a specific percentage
of the payroll of its employees to the retirement scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the retirement scheme. No forfeited
contributions may be used by the employers to reduce the existing
level of contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from “profit before tax” as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.
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(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of each reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle current tax
liabilities and assets on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight line method. The estimated
useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their
cost).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined on a first in, first-out method.
Net realisable value of inventories represents the estimated selling
price less the estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand
deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents, as
defined above.
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(CONTINUED)

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Impairment losses on tangible assets including property,
equipment and right-of-use assets and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable amount
of tangible assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. When
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible assets including property,
equipment and right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the cost of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured in their entirety at amortised cost, depending on their
classification.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and
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(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

° the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding ECL, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount
of the debt instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the
financial asset is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for debt instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting periods, the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit- impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and is included in the “Other
income, gains and losses” line item.
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(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost as
well as financial guarantee. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increase in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to
the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;
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(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular debtor, e.g. a significant increase in the
credit spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor,
or the length of time or the extent to which the fair value of a
financial asset has been less than its amortised cost;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if () the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, (i) the debtors has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term, and (iii) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a debt
instrument to have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of “investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the
asset has an internal rating of “performing”. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past
due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor;
or
o information developed internally or obtained from external

sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts
are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial
assets written-off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by
the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for
financial guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount
drawn down as at the reporting date, together with any additional
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default date
determined based on historical trend, the Group’s understanding
of the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other
relevant forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group
uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on account receivables
using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit
loss experience and forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate
determination of initial recognition.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method expect for contingent
consideration payable measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically, the
Group categorised the fair value measurements into three levels,
based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures
made in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.

Useful lives of plant and equipment and intangible assets
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation/amortisation charges for its plant and equipment
and intangible assets. This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of plant and equipment and
intangible assets of similar nature and functions. Management will
increase the depreciation/amortisation charge where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives.

Loss allowances for ECL of trade receivables, prepayments
and other receivables and contract assets

The Group assesses loss allowances under ECL model for the
trade receivables, prepayments and other receivables and contract
assets. The loss allowance for ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates such as probability of default and forward-looking
information. The information about the loss allowances for ECL
of trade receivables, prepayments and other receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in note 11, notes 23 and 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the trade
receivables, prepayments and other receivables and contract assets
are approximately RMB81,043,000 (2023: RMB321,377,000),
RMB220,320,000 (2023: RMB191,819,000) and nil (2023:
RMB18,038,000), net of accumulated loss allowance of
approximately RMB141,841,000 (2023: RMB82,033,000),
RMB45,831,000 (2023: RMB84,000) and nil (2023: RMB945,000)
respectively.

Provision for loss allowances on trade receivables, prepayments
and other receivables of approximately RMB80,240,000 (2023:
RMB49,572,000) and RMB45,855,000 (2023: nil) were recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2024, respectively.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Loss allowances for ECL of trade receivables, other
receivables and contract assets (Continued)

Reversal of loss allowances on other receivables and contract
asset of approximately nil (2023: RMB147,000) and RMB945,000
(2023: RMB8,493,000) were recognised during the year ended 31
December 2024, respectively.

Estimated impairment of plant and equipment and intangible
assets

Plant and equipment, and intangible assets are stated at costs less
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash
flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong.

Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of plant
and equipment and intangible assets were RMB387,000
and RMB28,001,000 (2023: RMB319,000 and RMB17,000)
respectively. The information about plant and equipment and
intangible assets are disclosed in note 18 and note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. No impairment loss was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The information about
goodwill is disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be measured
based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is
measured using valuation techniques including the discounted cash
flow model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable
markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree
of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements
include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and
volatility. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations, is
valued at fair value at the acquisition date as part of the business
combination. When the contingent consideration meets the
definition of a financial liability, it is subsequently remeasured to fair
value at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value is
based on discounted cash flows. The key assumptions take into
consideration the probability of meeting each performance target
and the discount factor.

As part of the consideration for the acquisition, contingent
consideration payable with an estimated fair value of
RMB26,385,000 was recognised at the acquisition date and
remeasured to RMB28,797,000 as at 31 December 2024. Future
developments may require further revisions to the estimate. The
contingent consideration is classified as other financial liability. The
information about contingent consideration is disclosed in note 27
to the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to equity
holders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged during the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings net of short-term bank deposit,
cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of the
Group, comprising share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a continuous basis taking into account the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through new share issues as
well as the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS $®ITH
Categories of financial instruments SRITEER
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ENSRIEE
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BRERe KRS EEY) 335,486 348,350
Financial liabilities EHAans
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEN AT ENSRAE 233,278 374,373
Financial liability at fair value through BARBEFABSENSRARS
profit or loss 28,797 -
262,075 374,373

Fair value measurements objective and policies

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements.
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used
in determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial
instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting
standards.

Recurring fair value measurements
BEUERREHNS

ARENEEBEREEK

i

AAEER
AERERBEERNPHREAR AL EERNTE
MEE TANAREREL A HE R - RS
FHREERAAEMABABE I EIEER K%
Bt ERRERESRTAD S=E&H -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-% -t =R @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR

120249124318
JERTSANE

At 31 December 2024
Contingent consideration payable

= = 28,797 28,797

Total financial liability SRIBEESE

- - 28,797 28,797

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for recurring fair
value measurements during the year.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out
of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the year.

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

FN - BRUEAAEFESE - REFE R 2HELTE
BEER -

FEERRRNFAEBRAAEERZHNEAR
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F—R-HREERBERNERTISNRE CREH
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value estimation (Continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the
year ended 31 December 2024

SRT A&
D SefEfhE ()
RFEAXT BB ARBH R L ETE(E=R)

TRENEE2024F 12831 B ILFEE=AIBERH

5

Contingent
consideration
payable
FERTSRAR(E
RMB’000
ARETT

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 7202351 A1H »
and 1 January 2024 202312 4318 &2024%1A1H -
Addition during the year (Note 27) FRRE (FIzE27) 26,385
Fair value change for the year (Note 27) FARAELE (HFE27) 2,412
At 31 December 2024 #R2024F12H31H 28,797

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

Discounted cash flow method was used to capture the present
value of the group arising from the contingent consideration. The
key unobservable input is the discount rate of 11.5% determined
using a Capital Asset Pricing Model. The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value. If the discount rate was 1% higher/lower
while all other variables were held constant, the carrying amount
would decrease/increase by RMB32,000.

The carrying amount of bank and other borrowings as set out in
Note 30 was approximate to its fair values as the discounting effect
is insignificant.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of other current financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values due to their short-term maturities.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
prepayment and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables, other
payables, contingent consideration payable, amount due to a
director and bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments included interest rate risk, currency
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to short-
term deposit and bank and other borrowings. The Group’s policy
is to manage its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements based on interest
rate level and outlook so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to
bank balances which carry prevailing market interest rates. The
management considers that the exposure of cash flow interest
rate risk arising from variable rate bank balances is insignificant,
accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is provided. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its bank balances at floating rate of interests so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC. All the Group’s revenue
and cost of revenue are denominated in the functional currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB). As at the end of each reporting period, the
Group had the following financial assets, which are cash and cash
equivalents denominated in currencies other than RMB.

Assets BE
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”) B (7Tl
United States Dollar (“USD”) ES(E )

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to HKD and USD.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to foreign currency rates and includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusted their
transaction at year end for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes cash and cash
equivalents. A 5% (2023: 5%) increase or decrease is used when
reporting foreign currency rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign currency rates.

If 5% weakening/strengthening of HKD against RMB, the Group’s
post tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
increase/decrease by approximately RMB1,059,000 (2023:
increase/decrease by approximately RMB3,000).

If 5% weakening/strengthening of USD against RMB, the Group’s
post tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2024 would
increase/decrease by approximately RMB165,000 (2023: nil).
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to long- term deposit, trade receivables, contract assets, short-term
bank deposit, bank balances, amounts due from related parties
and other receivables. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive
forwarding looking information. Especially the following indicators
are incorporated:

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

o Internal credit rating
. External credit rating
o Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,

financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations

° Actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the borrower

o Significant increase in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the borrower

° Significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the borrower, including changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower.

The Group monitors closely the economic environment and where
appropriate, takes actions to limit its exposure to customers that
are severely impacted.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits and credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group only
accepts bills issued or guaranteed by reputable PRC banks if trade
receivables are settled by bills and therefore the management
of the Group considers the credit risk arising from the endorsed
bills is insignificant. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model upon application of IFRS 9 on trade
receivables and contract assets.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in IFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. The management of the Group estimates the
lifetime ECL of trade receivables and contract assets by using a
provision matrix, after considering credit risk characteristics based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is
mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 100% (2023: 100%) of the
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.

The Group has concentration on credit risk as 54% (2023: 90%) of
the total trade receivables were due from the Group's five largest
customers. As at 31 December 2024, the Group didn’t have any
trade receivable came from the largest customer (2023: 44% of the
Group's trade receivables).

In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. £@mI A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies B¥RREEBERBR (#)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= ER R R E S (4E)
Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with EFAEKEERE ZELSNERELEE (&)
customers (Continued)
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, trade receivables ERAEBEEERREEN—H5 - BHEKHRE
and contract assets have been grouped based on the following MEHEECRI T EERREESLE

credit risk characteristics:

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL

=Wl Eipud EREHEEBRNEE

Class A Indicates the exposure at default (‘EAD”) is still current does not have any  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
past-due amounts

AfE KPEHRER (TEORRD DAFEATEE(TaHeE - T HEEEE SR (BEERE)

Class B The major portion of the EAD has been past due for less than 60 days. Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

B BAEREEE S 2 E BT EBERE0K T HEEEE SR (BEERE)

Class C The major portion of the EAD has been past due for less than 1 year. The  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

risk of non-payment increases as the time period is longer than normal
expected payment process.

CH BARREESHEBBHTBA—F - BEREBABEFTHEAMNIRE - 2HEREEHEEEERE)
HORN ARG o

Class D Indicates the past due aging of the debtor exceeding at least 1 year. It Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)
indicates that the recovery of complete payments is likely to be difficult.

D FRBEHANBHRREBRAE D —F - HRPAIEH KB 2 EHR - THRBEEER (BEERE)

Class E Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more events  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired)

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred.
EfE ERE NS EUZEENMAARKRSREEETHNZENEHR - 2HRBEESHE(EEEREBE)
eREEWTEAEERIE -

Class F There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty Amount is written off
and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
Fi8 ERBRPBEBANGRENMBRE - MAKERARENEHRAIR - SECHH
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers (Continuead)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the
following categories:

cA g =NE )

B R EE B R R BUR ()

=& /m bR e E G ()
B EMELHE ZEWTIBELRENEE &)

AEENEFEERBFRERBIEATER

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
=Wl Eipud EREBEEBENEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not been a 12-month ECL
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
E1T HRELDRRERES B VRERREERRITARE A BTREEREN 12[@ABBEEER
TREEBAE1ER)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in credit Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired
risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer to as
Stage 2)
RER Eﬁ)@ MisER R EERREE CAHETREEERENEREE (BRFE2E 2HRBEEEE(EEEREBE)
X
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more events Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
ER ERESHSRMEEMARRRSRBERTAFEN —HXZEEH - 2HEREEEE(FERA)
AEALRMEERTEREEREERENER)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty Amount is written-off
and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
eS| EREBRNEBAMBREMBERE  MAKELEKOFIENREAN R SECDME

Bank balances and short-term bank deposit

Credit risk on bank balances and short-term bank deposit is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with
good credit ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12-month ECL for bank balances and short-term
bank deposit by reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. The 12-month ECL
on bank balances and short-term bank deposit is considered to
be insignificant. The Group has concentration of credit risk as
approximately 68% (2023: 53%) of the Group’s bank balances and
short-term bank deposit is placed with a bank at 31 December
2024.

Prepayments and other receivables and amounts due from related
parties

The directors of the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of prepayments and other receivables and
amounts due from related parties based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-
month ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL.

IRTTAE LR R ST HR T 1730
HREFHABAERBREETARBL TRERSE
AEMEERINET  BIRTTESRREHIRTE
FEOEERBRER o RIFINDE BTGB QR
HECATIRERNEORETENEBEEER
HIRITHEH R HRITERET1I2EABHEES
BTG - RITEB R EHBRTERM12(8 ATEH(E
BEEBERATRERKN - R2024F12A31H * &%
[E#4)68% (20234F : 53%) MERITHE R M B HRIR1TTF
RIEBR—RIBIT - AEEEERZERR °

TRV IR R A E TR RS B 7 710

AAREERBBEENLE  BELRAKRETE
BARBXHHOAEEEE REEER - HIEMNR
TR B H At 8 MR TR K% R U B g 05 R A R UK [ 1
ITEHERFE - AEEAEERREERN12(EA
EHEEERE BRI RERREERBRAREE
e RIASERRZHEEESE -
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BL22024F 12431 HILFIE

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The 12-month ECL on amounts due from related parties is
considered as insignificant for the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 as the counterparties involved are considered with limited
credit risk and the ECL involved is not material. The disclosure of
loss allowance recognised for prepayments and other receivables
was made below in this note for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2028.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as approximately
25.73% (20283: 20.76%) of the Group’s prepayments and other
receivables is due from a counterparty at 31 December 2024.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments,
the loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases. The
tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial
assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

SRT A&
B b B B AR R BUR (8]

15 B/ R R el B (48)
RELE20244F 202312 A1 B ILFE - FEURRR:
ARE12EABHEERBEBTEXR - HaREEY
FHHEAEEEREERR KAHBBEHEERSE
TBEKX - @immiﬁmmimﬂmamiﬁﬁ
T FRIB M E A FE U GRIB R R S 1B B B R A M 3
TXHE -

R2024F12 A318 » AEE4I25.73% (20234 :
20.76%) HYTE N FRIA K HAt FE YR IE R B B — %
HBFLTHE  BAEERETEERR -

Z!K;‘%E!‘\J?@?ﬂﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ}xﬁ%%Tﬁ%}f‘
BAEAEZRNERIE - SURBHRES ﬁE’JJEE
BREETEEAEETREFHRE—TERS
RV ARESREERANEEZEERR %Z
ZRBAETHERMERRIENGE

2024
2024
Gross Net
Credit risk Average carrying carrying
characteristic ~ 12-month or lifetime ECL loss rate amount Total ECL amount
BAEE
FERREE 12ERR2BREEERR R ES REAE BEAH BREFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR%®Trn AR¥Tx
Trade receivables (Note 23)
B 5 RUE (Firit2s)
Class B Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 0.9% 897 8 889
B 2HERNEEEE(BEERE)
Class C Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 22.2% 58,855 13,039 45,816
CH FHREBEEEE(BEERE)
Class D Lifetime ECL (not credit- impaired) 79.0% 163,132 128,794 34,338
D RN EEE (EEERE)
222,884 141,841 81,043
Prepayments and other Performing 12m ECL (not credit-impaired) 1.3% 46,470 619 45,851
receivables (Note 23)
FERAFIE R At U B 12(8 A BEEEE (REERE)
(3E23)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 20.6% 219,681 45,212 174,469
RER 2 HRDEEEE(BEERE)
266,151 45,831 220,320
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B2 2024F 12731 HIFF/E
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. £@mI A (&)
Financial risk management objectives and policies WA R e B R AR R BUR ()
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= ER R R R E 71 (48)
2023
20235
Gross Net
Credit risk Average carrying carrying
characteristic 12-month or lifetime ECL loss rate amount Total ECL amount
‘ ‘ BHEE
EERREE  120AEBEHEEEE THEEx REAE BRRaE RESE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARBTT ARETL

Trade receivables (Note 23)
B SRR (iE23)

Class B Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 51% 100,444 5111 95,333
B FHRBEEEE(BEERE)
Class C Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 10.2% 177,552 18,117 159,435
CH 2 HRHSEEEE (BEERA)
Class D Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 46.6% 125,414 58,805 66,609
DEE 2 HREBEEEE (BEERE)
403,410 82,033 321,377
Contract assets (Note 24) Class A Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 5% 18,983 945 18,038
BHBE (iEt24) AR 2 HRBEEHE(BEERE)
Other receivables (Note 23) Performing 12m ECL (not credit-impaired) 0.6% 2,595 15 2,580
H i FEURIE (P4 7E23) BT 128 ATEEME S B (RERRE)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 1.06% 6,508 69 6,439
RER 2 HRBEEEE(BEERE)
9,103 84 9,019
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. SRT AR (A
Financial risk management objectives and policies ISR EE B ZRBE (E)

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= ER R R E 1S (48)

The following tables show the movements in lifetime ECL that TRINREZRECERE ZERFIEERN 2 HE
has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified HEEHIEEE)

approach:

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HITEH 2 HfEH
FEBER FEBIR
(BRiEERE) (EERE) et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT
As at 1 January 2023 2023F1 A1H 32,461 - 32,461
Impairment losses recognised EERREEE 49,572 = 49,572
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 82,033 - 82,033
Impairment losses recognised EERREEE 80,240 - 80,240
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMHB AR (20,432) = (20,432)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024%F12A31H 141,841 - 141,841
The following tables show the movements in lifetime ECL that has TREINBREHEREOEEHERN 2 HATEHRE
been recognised for contract assets under the simplified approach: BB 22 -

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2 HATEHE 2 HES

FEER FEEE
(BiEERE) (FEERE) mEr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT ARETT
As at 1 January 2023 #2023F1 A1H 9,438 - 9,438
Impairment losses recognised EHERREEE (8,493) = (8,493)
As at 31 December 2023 2023F12A31H 945 - 945
Reversal of impairment losses REEEEE (945) = (945)

As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12H31H - - -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The following table shows of the movement in loss allowances that
has been recognised for prepayments and other receivables:

cA g =NE )
B R EE B R R BUR ()
=&/ G R e E A ()

TRIRE BB FOE R AR BRI ER
BEED :

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
12-month (not credit- (credit-
ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HEE 2HEH
12f8A FEBE FEFER
REREEEE (BiZEHE) (fEEwE) @zt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETR AEETT AREFT
As at 1 January 2023 M2023F1 A18 14 217 - 231
Impairment losses recognised/(reversal)  THER, /(B FEEE 1 (148) - (147)
As at 31 December 2023 2023512 A31H 15 69 - 84
Impairment losses recognised EERRESE 604 45,251 - 45,855
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-—FHELQR - (108) - (108)
As at 31 December 2024 2024512 A31H 619 45,212 - 45,831
Liquidity risk HEEZEE

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group. While recognising that the Group has
relatively low level of cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB33,966,000 compared to bank and other borrowings which is
repayable within one year of approximately RMB80,000,000 as at
31 December 2024.

Up to the date of these consolidated financial statements were
authorised for issue, the directors of the Company are satisfied that
the Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future, after taking
into consideration of placing of convertible bonds under special
mandate as disclosed in Note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and lease liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay.

EERPECRRE  AEEERTAFETRER
REANAIEKRFHRELRASEEMURLEE
VEERHES MRERSREKBNTE -

RIRBARE VB RER - AR EEETFHEZEAR
EERKREES - RELE2024F12A31HAR —
FRERZNRTTREAEG KL ARES0,000,0007T
Bt - AEBRES KA EBEWMERFREKRKFELHA
R #33,966,0007T °

BEZSGEAVBRRERETZAY - ZEHGE
BATE R AT TESOFT IR FR AR 1B 55 I X M B &5 R 4 AL B
& ARREREH ARBEREERRYBE
IREITER A RAREIEN I 55T -

TRANAEBITESREBENEEABENRT
BRFH - ZRIBRASEAIFEERN RN EE A
HnERaERRRARSRER -

P TEHRARRXE/ —2-EFFH o 107




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IS RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

BL22024F 12431 HILFIE
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. SRT AR (A
Financial risk management objectives and policies ISR EE B ZRBE (E)

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) HEBEZEE (&)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flow. To the ZERNEBEFNEREASHERE - WAERERZF
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount By RE i? © BIZRBLIR & RBIR 5 5 AR A A1) == gh
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of each reporting BEtER

period.

At 31 December 2024

20245128318
Total
Over 1year  contractual
Less than 1to3 4t012 andless than undiscounted Carrying
1 month months months 5 years cash flows amount
mERE BB-FR  ARERAN
R-EAR —Z={88 +=f8A PREF REREAH REE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTRT ARBTR ARMTR  ARETR  AR%®TR

Trade and other payables S REMEM T 136,634 - - - 136,634 136,634

Contingent consideration ERHARE
payable - - 13,297 15,500 28,797 28,797
Amount due to a director Rt —REEHE 14,673 - - - 14,673 14,673
Bank borrowings RITIER 240 660 74,885 1,868 77,653 76,271
Other borrowings HifEH 56 152 5,633 219 6,060 5,700
151,603 812 93,815 17,587 263,817 262,075

At 31 December 2023

R2023F12A318
Total
Over 1 year contractual
Less than 1103 41012  andlessthan  undiscounted Carrying
1 month months months 5 years cash flows amount
mERE  BB—FR  RUHRED
R—{EAR —Z={iA +=f@A PREF RENELE REE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR AREBTR ARETT  ARETT  ARETR

Trade and other payables B o REMEMNTE 210,716 - - - 210,716 210,716
Amount due to a director EN—REEFHE 14,673 - - - 14,673 14,673
Bank borrowings fﬁﬁfﬁ%’\ 492 1,346 114,785 - 116,623 114,000
Other borrowings Hifz 5,134 450 1200 31,875 38,659 34,984

231,015 1,796 115,985 31,875 380,671 374,373
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B2 2024F 12731 HIFF/E
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7l 2 EER
For management purposes, the Group is organised into business ?ﬁmﬁ BEXMME @ AEBRERRRESHEKE
units based on their products and services and has two reportable fiI - MER2MOLE DT -
operating segments as follows:
- Advertisement segment — providing advertising service; and - EE-REEER% &k
- E-commerce segment — E-commerce business of used - BFfEAESIH KE_FEFERE AL
electronic products and provision of SaaS services. 7% R IR SaaSR ©
During the year, the Group commenced the business engaging RAFE - ANEERUYIE T REBIR (GF RHTEES5) &)
in e-commerce business along with the acquisition of Qian Xun EliSEELE ?ﬁ?%?ﬁﬁ&%ﬁ& WHEERERA— 1
International (as detailed in note 35), and it is considered as a new FHATERRLEENE  BAIETFEEHEL
reportable and operating segment by the management named
“E-commerce segment”.
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating ﬁﬁ@@i SRR E E.Lﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂ%%ﬁ CAERE
segments separately for the purpose of making decision about BT RRRFFEED AR - HBPEVIRIE]ZH
resources allocations and performance assessment. Segment "*IH@ SEITRIE - AT 2% "*B}Eﬁé%ﬁﬁﬂ%‘ﬁ
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit or AER MBI BIER o AABBIA B BN RERA
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss before tax. The T§§W§+§—iﬁl CHERRS AR - MM B A R R
adjusted profit or loss before tax is measured consistently with the REEARADEMWES BTt AGEAEF -
Group’s profit or loss before tax except that finance costs, gain on
disposal of a subsidiary and corporate and unallocated income/
expenses are excluded from such measurement.
Segment revenue and segment result PEBWER D EPELE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AT RRAZ2HMREEDBEI DO AREE S R E
reportable and operating segments: BT
Advertisement E-commerce Total
BE ETEE @
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2023%F 20244 20234F 2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTT AR%®TR ARETT AR%TR ARETR
Segment revenue A 107,646 378,707 249,187 - 356,833 378,707
Segment results HELE (124,485 (04,749) 6,641 - (117,844) (24,749)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRBARZ 9,304 =
e
Corporate and unallocated income ¥ RARDEMA 198 =
(Note i) (Fft3E)
Corporate and unallocated expenses % RARAEHZ (9,803) -
(Note i) (P =)
Finance costs RERNA (4,915) (7,320)
Loss before tax BRERIEE (123,060) (32,069)
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. D EER ()
Segment assets and liabilities PHEEREE
Segment assets and liabilities are measured consistently with NEEERBENFEERNEENABHRE 2
the Group’s financial statements except that corporate and MHEEREMAPEEERBETTAEHE
other unallocated assets and liabilities are excluded from such Hoo
measurement.
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by UTAREZEIE/RRECESHBEDNAEEEERE
reportable and operating segments: BEDHT
Advertisement E-commerce Total
BE ETEK “@st
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F 2023%F 20244 2023F 20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR  ARB®FT AR¥TRT ARETT  AR¥Trn  ARETR
Segment assets AHEE 302,684 575,656 124,826 - 427,510 575,656
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMKDE
assets (Note | EAGE) 31,676 =
Total assets BERE 459,186 575,656
Segment liabilities AR 262,503 392,883 35,773 - 298,276 392,883
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMKDE
liabilities (Note i) ELCE) 7,113 =
Total liabilities it 305,389 392,883
Other segment information HibnBER
Advertisement E-commerce Total
B% ETEB @t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 2023F 20244 2023F 20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETT ARMTRT ARMTT AR®TR AR%TR

Amounts included in the measure of T AN BEEH EE

segment result or assets HECEE
Depreciation of plant and equipment  Bi/E K& &1 E (24) (24) Y] - (31) (24)
Amortisation of intangible assets EVEESE (5) (5) (1,217) = (1,222) ()
Provision for loss allowances of financil BERANEE
assets and contract assets, net FEBBRETR (124,975) (40,932) (175) - (125,150) (40,932)
Additions of non-current assets* REFRBEE"
(Note ii (Pt 3i) - - 29,321 - 29,321 =
Note i: For the year ended of 31 December 2023, all of the Group’s activities Bt 0 BEL023E 1231 I EE » FEFFE LK EEW
are considered to be primarily the provision of advertising services and 15 15 BB S S B A AR T L A K £ B (1 — (FAT A 5
there was only one operating segment of the Group. In this regard, no 2o BT E + PO23F W ME S B2 K5 TWA - B
unallocated income, expenses, assets and liabilities were separated to b BEHBRE -
present in 2023.
Note ii: Non-current assets include plant and equipment and intangible assets. Hiatii : FEm BB E CI IR R R A R ST A o
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 7. 2 EBER ()
Geographical information 3 3 R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KEINBEFH Yz
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Mainland China A A 182,752 378,707
Other regions/countries Hhle BIR 174,081 =
356,833 378,707
The revenue information above is based on the locations of M EEREREREHLESS
the customers.
(b)  Non-current assets (b) FREEE
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, over 90% of the non- 20244 £ 2023%12 318 © 1BiB90%HIIE
current assets were located in PRC. MEVEEMNRFRE -
Information about the major customers FERFER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing EAFEHAERRKZE10%A EHEFH kS
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBEF T
Customer A’ =P A 75,536 @A
Customer B ®F B 52,456 A °
Customer C? BRC? 44,314 117,547
Customer D! BFE D' 36,811 TEA ¢
! Revenue from E-commerce business of used electronic products. 7 K —FEFESDEFEELELLY S
e Revenue from TV advertising services and online advertising services. 2 W B B RS A RS A%
g The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 3 FEIEUG 2515 7N LE B4 25 L ) T B8 10% ©

revenue of the Group.
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B2 2024F 12531 H1FF/E

8. REVENUE 8. W=
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers HEFI AN ES B
Revenue represents revenue arising from rendering advertising WEERARHEERE  —FEFEMS FEB
services, E-commerce business of used electronic products and ¥ RIRMHSaaSIRF M e - AEEARFERGE D
provision of SaaS services. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for HranT

the year is as follows:

Types of goods and services ERRIRBEEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETFT
Television (“TV") advertising services BR(ER]) BERS
— Hard-sell TV advertising services (Note) — WM EREE R () 8,420 38,122
— Advertising solution packages involving — FREERBESREHES
soft-sell TV advertising services (Note) R A A () 30,808 124,285
39,228 162,407
Online advertising services HFBEE RS 51,926 188,155
Outdoor advertising services FINES RIS 12,251 17,962
Other advertising services HAhEE RS 4,241 10,183
107,646 378,707
E-commerce business of used electronic products ~ —F & FEmE TGS ER 246,160 =
Provision of Saa$S services $2 it SaaS AR 3,027 =
249,187 -
356,833 378,707
Note: Hard-sell TV advertising service is the placement of traditional Wi - M ERELREAREGESHERERES
advertisements during TV advertising time slots; and soft-sell TV advertising MEEE R ELIREBRAFEE A R BRI P EAE
service is the implantation of advertisements in variety shows and TV series & WERBBEA - BEEE) - FTEESROBESE -
such as product placement, title sponsorship, subtitle advertisement and
verbal slogan.
Time of revenue recognition Wi R BT
2024 2023
20244 20234F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETFT
Over time R —EREFE 110,673 378,707
At a point in time RF I 2h 246,160 =
356,833 378,707
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8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligation is
summarised below:

Advertising services

The Group principally generates revenue from the provision of
advertising services which usually range from one to twelve months.
Advertising services typically meet the criterion where customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefit of the Group’s
performance as the Group performs. Therefore, such revenue is
recognised as a performance obligation satisfied over time, using
output method.

The Group acts as the principal during the provision of advertising
services and therefore recognised revenue earned and costs
incurred related to these transactions on a gross basis where the
Group is the primary obligor and are responsible for (1) identifying
and contracting with third party advertiser which the Group views
as customers; (2) identifying and contracting with media platforms
to provide advertising time or space where the Group views
media platforms as suppliers; (3) establishing selling price for the
advertising services; and (4) bearing sole responsibility for fulfiment
of the advertising services.

All advertising services are for periods of one year or less. As
permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price of advertising
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Sales of used electronic products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon the title transferred to
the customers, being at the point that the products are delivered
to the customer. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the customer’s specific location.

Wz (4)

BREE
BRAEBENRENERSALNT :

BEERE
AEFERGEEERARE-REF =+ EAK
BEERBIRER - BERE —RFAATEE - BIAR
5 181 B KOS 51 P [0 iy MR R SIS 5 7S A (3 R 40 s P 7
REFER - Bt - AEBERAELABEEROEE
A — BR B ) PO s o T e AR R L2t o

AEERRHEESREHNIR - RItRaEEERE
REZEZHFRBOR R REENKAE - AEER
IEEBA AENDEFEERAEFPNE=S
BEETWEZETH  QYERHESHRRERN
BRYBIE T AEEHERYERSHE
& QRERSRBOEE  RARETRESR
BaoME—H AL -

RAREERSHETEE—F - RERMBRESE
AF1GRARE - DETATHRANNESIHE
AT TR

#E—FEFES
BOBERAARBRTERS  DERRARE
FRIEN - EREREIRFHE L EBDRER
fi o
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8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Performance obligations (Continued)

Saas$ services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
rendered based on the agreed terms with customers.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligation (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) of SaaS
services as at the end of reporting period are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue

Management expects that approximately 47% (RMB2,723,000)
of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance
obligations as at 31 December 2024 will be recognised as revenue
next year. The remaining 53% (RMB3,079,000) will be recognised in
the next four years. The amount disclosed above does not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

9. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

Wzt (4)
EAEE ()

SaaSHR#%
ARIBIREE 15 ENIERIRERTS - BAS TR
R BT °

RBEHR - HEEESaaSREHR TRORECRE
TRAA KRBT WX HBREB|AT ¢

2024
202445
RMB’000
ARMEF T

TEEER ARSI 2T
Within one year —FR
More than one year —FLE

2,723
3,079

5,802

EREIE  HE2024%12831H » DB EAREIT
BAHOSEENHT SERBL47% (ARHE2,723,0007T)
EARERR AU - $2 T53% (ARMS3,079,000
TO) AR KN FERER - EXRENSETEESR
H R AT B E o

HA ~ SR EE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETT
Interest income on bank deposits RITIFHFEHA 258 45
Government grants (Note (i) B B (B E () - 2,648
Input tax additional deduction on REBR BRI MR
value added tax (Note (ii)) (B3 (i) - 809
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note (iii)) & — M E A B2 Yeas (MEE (i)
(Note 36) (P9 5E 36) 9,304 =
Fair value change of contingent consideration payable FE{ kA B HY A f B &
(Note 27) (BfF3E 27) (2,412) -
Others EHAh, 446 (72)
7,596 3,430
Notes: HaE -
(i) The amounts represented subsidies received from the local governments 10} FZAIE 43 BB AN [ E AT B B BB R _F T B

for rewarding the Group’s contribution to local economies and for listing.
There were no specific conditions attached to the grants and the amounts
were recognised in profit or loss when the grants were received.

(i) The PRC subsidiaries were granted an input tax additional 5%deduction on
value-added tax in 2023 according to relevant law on value-added tax of
the PRC.

(iii) The Group disposed an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary at a
consideration of RMB200,000 on 28 June 2024.

EHBITRIRE) R © 2B UM TR &
BRI EYIF FE 1R 1R

(i) RIS E PR %/ - 2028F 4 B8 2 A] R T
BB A TR B AR INAT 5% A5

(i)  AEER202446 528 H L BARMEL00,000T H &
G ES -Gl NI
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10.

11.

12.

FINANCE COSTS 10.
Interest on bank and other borrowings RIT R EADIE T E
Guarantee fees on bank borrowings RITERIERE
PROVISION FOR LOSS ALLOWANCES OF FINANCIAL 11.

ASSETS AND CONTRACT ASSETS, NET

& AR AN
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT
4,555 5,529
360 1,791
4,915 7,320

EREERSHNEETFRBEBHER

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Provision for loss allowances of: BB HEE

— Trade receivables — B2 RWGIE 80,240 49,572
— Prepayments and other receivables — AT EIE I B At U IR 45,855 =
126,095 49,572

Reversal of loss allowances of: EsiE AR
— Other receivables — B Atb R IE - (147)
— Contract assets —BHEE (945) (8,493)
(945) (8,640)
Total provision for loss allowances EEREIREE 125,150 40,932

Details of ECL assessment are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12.
Current tax expense BNEAR B
Current year AEE
Under-provision in prior year BEFERETR
Deferred taxation (Note 20) IEIEFLIA (I 5E 20)
Income tax expense/(credit) Fsfif Y (He)

BRABMEE BRI GOFISEN GRS M RE M
6 -

FrisHipx (E%)

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETFT
928 1,493

28 22

(305) (10,233)

651 (8,718)
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HZ2024F 12731 HIFF/ZE
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the Law of the PRC on EIT (“EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, certain PRC subsidiaries
qualified as Small Low-profit Enterprises are entitled to 5% PRC
EIT. The tax rate of other PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

The applicable tax rate of Xizang Wanmei Advertising Co., Ltd. (7§
B EREE AR A F)(“Xizang Wanmei”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, is 15% according to Circular Zang Zheng Fa 2018
No. 25 (the “Circular”). According to the Circular, enterprises
located in Tibet and engaged in specific encouraged industries are
qualified for applying a preferential tax rate of 15% for the periods
from 2018 to 2020. Ministry of Finance in PRC issued 2020 notice
no. 23 to extend the tax concession period to 31 December 2030.
As such, the EIT rate for Xizang Wanmei is 15% for both years.

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands as
there is no income tax imposed in such jurisdiction.

Pursuant to the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

12.

B (ER) (8

RIEF B EAERE ([REMERIA]) RIEEA
BREAEEIED - GEBANIBACENS TP
BH B A R A 5% B AP B EATEE - HihAE
B AR E A25% °

R 2018 F 255 A ([AA]) - AREE—
2EMBARAREEESERAR((AREE])
HERAREE15% o RIFBA - H2018F E20204F
R MRAEEYER TR EEENCEFER
FRB15%MERIE o b BRE BEPE 120204235
AT R EEEE20305E12 4318 < Bt - 7
HEEPMERNBEROCEMEHRETERAE15% °

RIENSHSERRAE  ARRAMAERET
SR A EEBESMIETR 2B BH
a5 -

RIEFISHEMART A EREREEE2AEETH
5 F #5128, 25% H Bt R BN TR 1B Hﬁﬁ;‘@zﬁ&ii’éﬁ
B R 1216.5% T R M THIE - T4 FBE
AR B £ B E RS AR RIS R B R 16. 5%9@2\%%&
KRB o

The income tax expense/(credit) can be reconciled to the loss BEAY (K fE2REmAEEREME2E
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other Hﬁl R BRI RIS IR SBROT ¢
comprehensive income as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Loss before tax MRS AR 18 (123,060) (32,069)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% BT 5% B AN TR B (30,765) (8,018)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible RAB A s E
for tax purposes 18 363
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIER fﬁlﬁ}gﬁaﬁ’]fﬂﬂ"%gii 395 367
Effect of different tax of subsidiaries operating Hh el xR g EmBEA
in other jurisdictions TRABENZE (429) 42
Utilization of tax losses not recognised B A RERRIBEE (487) (1,494)
Under provision in prior year BEFERETR 28 22
Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised RER G R EZRBRIEE 31,891 =
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year FRAERES(ER) 651 (8,718)
Details of the deferred taxation are set out in Note 20 to the BERRERIENFBEER NS M RERMFE20 ©

consolidated financial statements.
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H 2202412731 HIFFE
13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

14.

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Staff Costs

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

(Note 14)

Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme
(excluding directors’, chief executive’s and

supervisors’ emoluments)

Total staff costs

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19)
Depreciation of plant and equipment (Note 18)

Total Depreciation and amortisation

Auditors’ remuneration

Expenses relating to short-term leases

Note:

13. FREE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT
FEREETENRIA T EIESE
8 IR
BERTBITRABHEE
(FizE14) 1,480 1,228
e IE - RMREMET 8,186 3,924
RNEFGFTEIMAR (T RIEES
FEITRABRESHHE)
1,533 1,450
488 TR 11,199 6,602
mA A EHHE (MRE19) 1,222 5
R KT E (FisE18) 31 24
e M 1,253 29
1% S5 A 7 A 950 930
FRERHANNAS 1,152 747

Performance related bonuses are determined by the management of the

Company based on the Group’s performance, performance of the relevant
individual within the Group and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024
Executive directors

Mr. Sun Changpeng (Chairman) (note (iif)(vi))
Mr. Leng Xuejun

Ms. Wang Xin (note (ii))

Ms. Li Na (note (iii))

Independent non-execultive directors
Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen (note (v))
Mr. Wong Sincere (note (v))

Mr. Niu Zhongjie (note (iv))

Mr. Li Xue (note (v))

Mr. Wu Ke (note (v))

Mr. How Sze Ming (note (iv))

Total

Wi RBEBYGTEA AR A EEEERAEBZL - 166
TAAR P FE B 7R (AL R T5HIRERE

14. EERIETHAEMS
ENSENESHMESFENT -
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
e 2H BIKER
we RHEMEF FHEIMERR et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR¥T R ARETR AR¥ETR
HZE2024512A31HILEE
HITEE
BRB R (EE) (i v) - 180 16 196
REELAE - 453 43 496
F ARz (BTaE(i) - 227 34 261
2= 2 = (T3 (i)) - 112 17 129
- 972 110 1,082
BUHRTEE
MEBR L (M V) 37 - - 37
BB LA (HFEV) 37 - - 37
F487E A (M EEV) 55 - - 55
LA (HTFEV) 89 - - 89
KEEA (HTFEV) 89 - - 89
7 B (M3 V) 91 - - 91
398 - - 398
“hst 398 972 110 1,480
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

14. EFRFIZTHASHE (@)

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE2023F12A31BILEE
Executive directors HITES

Ms. Wang Xin (Chairlady) (note (i) FEmst () ()

Mr. Leng Xuejun REERE

Ms. Li Na (note (iii))

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Xue (note (v))

Mr. Wu Ke (note (v))

Mr. How Sze Ming (note (iv))

Total

Notes:

22z (BT Gii)

BUFHNITES
FEEE (REWV)
KB (HFEW)
rBHEE (EEwW)

#at

Y

(i)

(i)

(i)

v)

v

Performance related bonuses are determined by the management of the
Company based on the Group’s performance, performance of the relevant
individual within the Group and comparable market statistics

Ms. Wang Xin is the sister of Ms. Wang Lei, the shareholder. Ms Wang Xin
was removed as an executive director and Chairlady of the Board on 1
March 2025.

On 21 June 2024, Ms. Li Na resigned as an executive director and Mr. Sun
Changpeng was appointed as an executive director.

On 21 June 2024, Mr. How Sze Ming resigned as an independent non-
execultive director and Mr. Niu Zhongjie was appointed as an independent
non-executive director.

On 3 September 2024, Mr. Li Xue and Mr. Wu Ke resigned as independent
non-executive directors and Ms. Lam Hoi Yan Karen and Mr. Wong
Sincere were appointed as independent non-executive directors.

On 1 March 2025, Mr. Sun was appointed as the Chairman of the Board.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was
no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid by the Group as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for lost of office.
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Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other scheme
Fees benefits contributions Total
e 2R RRET
we N E At i@ A BEGEN et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARBTT ARBTFT
_ 204 36 240
- 232 54 286
- 223 35 258
- 659 125 784
132 - - 132
132 - - 132
180 - - 180
444 = = 444
444 659 125 1,228
MaE -
U KB TEAL AR A B[R RAE B KT - 156
TAARFE B R o] B RS EFETE -
(i) TIRL+BREEEL LM, ° TIRZTIR2025F
BA1AWECHITEFREFSF/E -
(i) R2024F6H21H » FHL+FIHTEE  FHHM%
HREERHTESE -
(iv) R2024F6H21H - REBB;EEFFTE TIHTESE -
RAGEESEFRELRBEVINTES -
v) R2024F9H3H » FZHAERRFIELEFEBLIFHT
EF MREELLRENESE S ST BB IEHTT
BE.
Vi) RO026E3A1H » Gk LT REFS T/ °

EX2IRTEETNHE DRFERERRRTRAE
SEEBMIRHRSAESHME -

EXPBMIFAITEENME AW EFIER/ARRT]
BEENREHE -

B E20244F K 2023F12 A31H IEFE » I EARLQF]
EFSTBTRAEBREXRABRETAFINZ

B

HE2024F N2023F 12 A31HIEFE « NEE I &
YRHMEMBE - (EABBINATMAREBZ AL
Bk E AR AE -
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15. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees during the reporting period
included three directors (2023: three directors), details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 14 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining two highest paid
employees (2023: two) who is neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company, are as follows:

Salaries, wages, allowances and other benefits He IE -

Contributions to retirement benefits scheme

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
emoluments were paid to the five highest paid employees by the
Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for lost of office.

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

RRTRFEH EIHR

15. EEHM
RREHARNTZSFHESBIE=8% = (2023
F:=FEF) HHEMFBIR EXXHIE14 - AF
EE#M% (2023%F : MEZ) WIEEEREZITHA
BATHBESHIEENFHBFBAOT

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETIT

AL R H AR 358 355
56 118

414 473
HE2024F K2023F 12 A31ALLFE - AEEWE
BAEMESHMNEES I NEMME - EABEMA

sk I AANGR E1% 1O SEED S AE S BE R F -

AN THBNERAATESNSSFMEEBA
E G/

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
2024 20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately T %1,000,0007 70 (KSR
RMB912,750 (2023: RMB912,000)) AR#912,7507C
(20234 : AR#912,0007T)) 2 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement for joining the Group or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

HE2024F 2023F 12 A31HIEFE « ANEE I &
MAAEEFMATSZHMES EARSIMAZKIMA
AEB 2 B REISIEABERRHE -
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16.

17.
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DIVIDENDS 16.

No final dividend has been proposed by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

LOSS PER SHARE 17.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable
to the owners of the Company is based on the following:

RE

HE2024F F2023F 12 A31HILFE - AEBEE
BRIRMNARHRE -

BREE

AR FUEA AL 6 R EA B B RS TR
BHEAY -

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Loss for the year attributable to owners of AEEREARREEEEMNARAR
the Company for the purpose of basic A AEIEFAEE
and diluted loss per share (123,702) (23,471)
Number of shares ROEE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FEERERREEEENTER
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss hniEFHE (FR)
per share (‘000 shares) 479,344 400,000

The diluted loss per share were the same as the basic loss per
share as there was no diluted potential ordinary shares in existence
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

AN RE E2024F K 2023F 12 A1 B ILFEL &
BEEESLER  NeREIEESNERENE

18
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18. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. WERRE
Motor Office
vehicles equipment Total
RE WAERE o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETFT ARETT
COSsT D%
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023and 1202351 A1H + 202312 A31H &

1 January 2024 2024F1F1H 5717 1,227 6,944
Additions NE - 82 82
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) EnENGIGIERS) - 471 471
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36) HE— B AR (i336) - (315) (315)
At 31 December 2024 #2024F12A31H 5717 1,465 7,182
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTERAE

and impairment:

At 1 January 2023 202351 A1H 5417 1,184 6,601
Charge for the year (Note 13) FRME (PH3E13) 15 9 24
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 #2023F12 4318 R2024F1 A1H 5,432 1,193 6,625
Charge for the year (Note 13) FNIk (F7E13) 16 15 31
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) Un Bl A 8] (Hi7E35) - 439 439
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HRBAR - (300) (300)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 5,448 1,347 6,795
Net carrying values IREFE

At 31 December 2024 72024512 A31H 269 118 387
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 285 34 319
The above items of plant and equipment are depreciated over PR R M EETE B AR R RIBREERIZEAT
their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the estimated AFERFHUNESENESNFERAFHANE
residual values, on a straight-line basis at the following useful lives:

Motor vehicles 5 years R 5%

Office equipment 3 -5 years WAERME 3ZE5F
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. EFREE
E-commerce platform Accounting Software Total
ETEKTA R @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETT
Cost B
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 1 722023F1A1H + 20234128318 &

January 2024 20241 B1H = 56 56
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) e NG R D) 29,206 - 29,206
At 31 December 2024 72024512 A31H 29,206 56 29,262
Accumulated amortisation RETEH
At 1 January 2023 202351 A1H - 34 34
Charge for the year (Note 13) FRME (PH3E13) - 5 5
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 #2023F12 4318 k20241 A1H - 39 39
Charge for the year (Note 13) FRME (FH3E13) 1,217 5 1,222
At 31 December 2024 2024128318 1,217 44 1,261
Net carrying amount BREFE
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12A31H 27,989 12 28,001
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H - 17 17
E-commerce platform and accounting software are amortised over BFRABHTARGTTERGREMAA I ERFR(TY
their estimated useful lives, which are on average 10 years. A10F) B -
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20.

DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
movements thereon during the current and prior years:

20.

LR IR

NTRAFERATFERANEZRERIBEE
NEEE)

ECL
provision Total
AMEE
EREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥T T
At 1 January 2023 7202351 A1H 10,532 10,5632
Charge for the year FRHBR 10,233 10,233
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 M2023F12 4318 &
2024F1A1H 20,765 20,765
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 36) H & — R E A F (MfFE36) (5,136) (5,136)
As at 31 December 2024 2024512 A31H 15,629 15,629
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised and UTAAEERIANTEELEHESERELESE
movement thereon during the current year:
Intangible asset Total
BREE et
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥TR
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 #2023F1 A1H ~ 2023F 12318 &
and 1 January 2024 20241 A1H - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35) Uk BB B A A) (F43E35) 7,302 7,302
Charge for the year (Note 12) FAHE (H3E12) (305) (305)
At 31 December 2024 12024512 H831H 6,997 6,997

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. As at 31 December 2024, deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of temporary differences attributable to accumulated
profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
RMB184,534,000 (2023: RMB98,835,000) as the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately RMB17,549,000 (2023: RMB8,608,000), available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses for the year ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The unused tax losses will be expired within next five
years.

BRI EFFEHE - B200851 81 H#E - AN B
NEER AR E RS ABMIBIN - R2024F12
A31H @ MRAEEEEH B e TR EE 2R A
ERNERRUETSRAERAGRED - Ei &
HAEME AR RiaFIARKE184,534,0007T
(20234 : AR%98,835,0007T) FEE &5 = RE 4R
B RER LR B -

2024F12A318 - AEBEARSHHEHRIBEBLA
R#17,549,0007T (20234 : A R¥#8,608,0007T) 7]
HARRHERICREF - FE20244F 5202312 A31
BIEFE @ ARRKEFRAAITER - SUERE
HEBRRECHBEE - RBAHEBBENR
REFAER °
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21. GOODWILL

Cost

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and
1 January 2024

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 35)

At 31 December 2024

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

21, B8
Goodwill
[l
RMB’000
AR¥T
2%
R2023F1 A18 ~ 2023F 124318 &

202441 A1H _
U BE B B A 7] (i 5£35) 67,477
R2024F12 A31H 67,477
REFE
202451283110 67,477

72023512 H831H

Impairment testing of goodwill

The Group’s goodwill acquired through business combinations
during the reporting period allocated to cash generating units for
E-commerce segment for impairment testing. The recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units (“CGU”) of the digital
technology segment is determined based on value-in-use
calculations. The cash flow projections used in calculations are
based on a financial budget covering a one-year period to five year
period approved by management and cash flows beyond the five-
year period with a growth rate of 2%. The discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections is 13.43%.

The following key assumptions which used in management’s cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rates — The discount rates are rates before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Business environment — Assumed that no major change in the
political, legal and economic conditions affecting the operation of
the business is in the PRC.

The management is of the view that the valuation techniques and
the estimates have taken into account the impact of the market
environment. There was no impairment loss on goodwill recognised
during the reporting period.

22. INVENTORIES

Finished goods BURL

As 31 December 2024, there was no impairment provisions of
inventories.

22,

AERERNH
AEERHEHNEBEHEGATRENEED A
EEFRABKD MRS ELBETRERR - 8
BN ReELEN ((ReELBM]) AT
SRR BEEREETE - FEERNBRSRE
BADERKEEERERE - FERFHRNY
BIRE MAFHNENRERBIERER2% - B
SRETRAPTREARELR T 513.43% -

ERENETHERENSNRESRETAHEM
AT EEE

BEIRE —BRIR R BBATNE - W RREBEELE
RAEV T E R ©

ERHRE-BRREEPEERLENDL  ERK

(R B AN -

BEERABERMREFTEEBETSRIENT
2 o HEHHLEEREERERE -

7E&
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT
9,354 =

2024F12A31 0 » WEFERERE -
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23. EZEWFIE EAREREMERTRE
RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Receivables at amortised cost comprise: RE S AT E B EIRBR R B35 ¢
Trade receivables — contracts with customers B HRIWHIE — BHEFPEL 222,884 403,410
Less: loss allowance for trade receivables B B S EMGRIAR B RS (141,841) (82,033)
81,043 321,377
Rental and other deposits e kEMZE 6,104 1,838
Deductible value-added tax ATHIBRIGET 2,852 5,367
Prepayments to suppliers SR ER R TR B 242,694 182,800
Other receivables H b fEGRIE 17,353 7,265
269,003 197,270
Less: loss allowances for prepayment and B TERTEIE R E M R GRIR B 1R
other receivables (45,831) (84)
223,172 197,186
Total 15T 304,215 518,563
The Group generally determines the credit period granted to AEE—R2BUBARR - 8L - EBBEREF
customers with reference to the financial position, credit record, HEEETEFPMNEEH - TRARFREEMEE
duration of business relationship. Credit and payment terms may REMGERAESE - XEB—RNIRIBHEBE D
vary for different customers and projects. The Group generally issues FrE ek m & P i ABRE -
billings to customers according to the terms set out in the relevant
contracts.
The Group generally provides average credit periods ranging from AEE—RRATFHERRHEN T15E30KKF
15 to 30 days after issued billings to customers. HIEEH -
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 23.

RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of
allowance for credit losses presented based on the date of billing,
which approximates the respective revenue recognition dates, at
the end of the reporting period:

0-30 days 0E 30X

31 -90 days 31 £ 90 X
91 - 180 days 91 £ 180 KX
181 — 360 days 181 £ 360 X
Over 365 days 365 RIAE

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate net carrying
amount of approximately RMB81,043,000 (31 December 2023:
RMB321,377,000), which are past due as at the reporting date.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances or
charge any interest thereon.

Details of ECL assessment of trade receivables, prepayments and
other receivables are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial

statements.

24. CONTRACT ASSETS 24.
Unbilled revenue of contracts KAEA K=
Less: loss allowance on contract assets W AREEBERE

Upon entering into a service contract with customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer and
assumes performance obligations to perform advertising service
to customers. The service contract is an asset if the measure
of remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations. Contract asset is recognised
over the period of the contract in which the service is performed
representing the Group’s rights to receive consideration for the
service performed because the rights are conditioned on the
Group’s future performance of remaining advertising service. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, i.e. advertising services performed are
verified by an independent third party with relevant qualifications
and experience and confirmed by customers.

Details of ECL assessment of contract assets are set out in Note 6
to the consolidated financial statements.

B 5 RWFEUR - RNRIARH iR ()

AT S REIRE B8 (B U iR H #R) 2710
HEPHREHBREEERBENE SRR R
AT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBTT
889 95,333

6,972 L
2,412 =
36,432 159,435
34,338 66,609
81,043 321,377

M2024F12A318 - AEBHNE S REKFEREE
BHERES A HNERGE - HEREFESE
#5 AR%81,043,0007T (2023F12A31H : AR
#321,377,0007T) ° A B HE UL R AT A (A
IR R BT R F 8, o

BRE S EUGIIR - FEM A K E b UK IR TR
EEBRMENF BRI GRE M BmEMTe -

BHEE
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T
= 18,983
= (945)
= 18,038

REEFITSIRBA %R - REBEES AR WE
REER I%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%%%a
- WB TR REREENGTEBBCETNE
WEE AIRBAHR/REE - BRNEERBITRSG
MAEWANER - KRR EEFRETREUWERKE
EVRER - Thl N A RN ASAEER BRETER
THESRBET AR - BRNKR AR IR
BRERERRERNBIE=TRECETNE
ERBAMTFHERR)  ANEEBBEZESHEK
A -

BHaNEERBEEBBRFGANFEHRNGAM
TEIRKRMIZE 6 -
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from

0.10% to 0.20% (2023: 0.25% to 0.41%).

26. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Staff cost payables

Other tax payables

Listing expenses payables
Interest payables

Accrued expenses and other payables

Total

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the

date of billing as at the end of each reporting period:

0 - 30 days
31 - 90 days
Over 90 days

The Group is granted a credit period from 5 to 60 days from its
suppliers, unless prepayment to suppliers is specified on the
contract. The Group has financial risk management policies in place
to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

27. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023

and 1 January 2024

Addition during the year (Note 35)
Fair value change for the year (Note 9)

At 31 December 2024

25, RERFESEEY
IRITEBRDBIENT0.10%Z0.20% (20234 :
0.25%% 0.41%) M ZEET B o
26. ESEMNRERHEAESRIE
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT
H 5 0E 97,873 195,476
FEfHB TRk AR 7,228 5,163
HAbEMFE 177 178
B EmAE 756 756
FEH%I 665 775
quFfﬁii&ﬁﬁﬂF‘éﬁm 30,112 8,546
st 136,811 210,894
ﬁAkiﬁziEﬁﬂi LT AZEEBHNE 5 EMNRE
FRERDITLOT ¢
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETT
0E 30K 8,780 77,676
31 £ 90K 21,841 =
90 KA 67,252 117,800
97,873 195,476
AEEREEERE TEEHASE0XR  BRIEEY
BAEETEEEFEMNIE - AEEH T KRR
EEBUR - UERIIEEMRENMEERRLGS -
27. BEAHANRE
2024
20244
RMB’000
AR®T
20231 A1E - 2023412 A31H
N2024F1 818 -
FRRNE (H17E35) 26,385
FANAREZE (I7F9) 2,412
20244128318 28,797

P FTEHRARXE/ —2-EFFHK o 127




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR M EE
For the year ended 31 December 2024
BL22024F 12431 HILFIE

27. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLE (CONTINUED)

Current portion RENED
Non-current portion b

On 24 July 2024, the Company entered into purchase agreement
with the independent vendors. The fair value of the consideration
of approximately RMB85,171,000 is to be settled partially by the
allotment and issue of 80,000,000 new shares in the Company and
partially by payment of cash. Th details of acquisition are set out in
Note 35.

As at 31 December 2024, the managements of the Company have
remeasured the contingent consideration payable as approximately
RMB28,797,000 and a loss on fair value change of approximately
RMB2,412,000 is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income during the year.

The Group recognises the fair value of contingent consideration
for acquisition, as of their respective acquisition dates as part
of the consideration transferred in exchange for the acquired
business. The fair value measurement requires, among other
things, significant estimation of post-acquisition performance of the
acquired business and significant judgment on time value of money.
The details of the fair value measurement are set out in Note 6.

28. AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

Amount due to Ms. Wang Xin FERTEfRZ T 3IE

The Group borrowed from Ms. Wang Xin of approximately
RMB14,673,000. Ms. Wang Xin was a former shareholder and
executive director of the Company since she have been removed
on 1 March 2025.

Amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free and have no
fixed terms of repayment.

27.

28.

FEAF SR ARAE (4)
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFL  ARETR
13,207 -
15,500 -
28,797 -

R2024F7F248  AAREBYEHFIVEE R
& RENAABELHARKS5,171,0007TE 3755
B D3 K 3£1780,000,000% AN A B AX 17 K B0 i
BIRSEE - WEFIBEHMIEESS -

R2024F12A31H » ARREEBRFANSEH:T
EREMSHAREBHARY28,797,0007T © WHLERE
BRELEM2ERZRERAABEEHBEEHAR
#0 412,0007T °

REE PR QSR E BB RARER
RAfE - (ERBLIRERPTU IS TS M L E A — 8
7o EITRAEFEFEEHPERE HMKERY
BB R R B IEHER G R EREHEEED
EARFIE - R EFTEFHEHNHES o

BN —-ERESEFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
14,673 14,673

AEBRATIMEZEEALARE14,673,0007T £
REZER2025%3 A1 B %R - AR QARAMERE
MEITES -

ENEEFAREEN - 20 B EETERS -
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. AHEE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Revenue from advertising services B ES RGBS 23,545 17,074
Revenue from E-commerce business of used B-FEFERETFRABES
electronic products S 5,101 -
Revenue from Saa$ services H SaaS IRIFEG Mz 5,802 -
34,448 17,074

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to M2023F1A1H - X B ERARE38,259,000

RMB38,259,000. Contract liabilities are recognised when the T o BB ERAR R FHRMARS BT U ENE P - 5K

Company receives payments from customers before services are R HBEEREARAERELESNER  BE

provided, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the beginning of MHEAS NN RN BMZRIB AL

a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant contract

exceeds the amount received.

Revenue recognised during each reporting period included REMREHBERNUABRFEREREHVNENEE

the whole amount of contract liabilities at the beginning of the M2 e - FA - ARETEBREBATFED

respective reporting period. The Group had not recognised any BITHRBRAEEAEEN R -

revenue during the year that related to performance obligations that

were satisfied in prior years.

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30. S|RBITRHEMER
2024 2023
202445 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Bank and other borrowings HRITREMER
— Secured (Note (i) — B (MR 72,871 144,000
- Unsecured — IR 9,100 4,984
81,971 148,984
Carrying amounts repayable (based on scheduled — FEfE 2 BRE(E (IRIEE %
repayment dates set out in the borrowing FrEkEtaliE s 8 )
agreements)
Within one year —FR 80,000 118,984
After one year but within five years —FRERAFA 1,971 30,000
81,971 148,984
Amounts shown under current liabilities REBBE T RER 80,000 118,984
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities EREBEBETH SR 1,971 30,000
81,971 148,984

Notes: HiaE -

1] The bank loans were guaranteed by four (2023: four) independent third- U] ZERITE AN (20236 - PU5) B E =T 1ERA
party guarantors, who charged the Group an upfront guarantee fees range ER - BIRIHBI B A £ 5091.8%E2.1% (20234 -
from 1.8% to 2.1% (2023: from 1.8% to 2.5%) of the corresponding loan 1.8%22.6%) WX L B FE T EIR B -
principal amounts.
The effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest R2024%12 /731 H - ZFiR1TE A EEFFIE (75
rates) of these bank loans range from 2.40% to 6.00% (2023: from 3.00% EREBHIFIE) B F2.40%F6.00% (20234 : I1F
to 6.00%) per annum as at 31 December 2024. 3.00%%6.00%) °

The loan agreements do not impose any covenants. B NN EaI 2247 -
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. KX
Share capital
(amount in
Number of original
shares currency)
ROBE BRERELEHE)
’000 HK$'000
T FAT

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each SREEIIBTHNEER

Authorised: EIE

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, #R2023F1 A1H ~ 20231274318 -

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 2024F1 A1H K&2024F12H431H° 2,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHR :

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and #2023F1 A1H ~ 2023F12A318 &

1 January 2024 2024F1 A1H 400,000 4,000
Placing of shares (note i) Bo & AR (=% 80,000 800
Issue of shares (note ii) BT (BfT3ED 80,000 800
At 31 December 2024 M2024F12A31H 560,000 5,600

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T

Shown in the consolidated financial statements RERE IS RERET 5,043 3,578

The holders of ordinary share are entitled to receive dividends TRRFBEABRUDTREIRNORKRE - BE—K&

declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at MEERRARRERAG LN —ERRE - IBEE

general meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally BRUEARARCFBEEMS =B REFHMAL -

with regards to Company’s residual assets.

Note i: On 7 June 2024, the Company completed a placing of an aggregate of Miiti 0 R2024F6H7H « KL AR EBERR70.50%
80,000,000 new shares at a placing price of HK$0.50 each share. The TT 5L B B A ££80,000,000/8 372 17 © BDE#TAR 17,2
net proceeds from the placing of new shares amounted to approximately T 1830 EF BB 47/540,000,000% 70 (16 5 RAA LB
HK$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB35,949,000). 35,949,0007T) °

Note ji: On 13 August 2024, the Company completed the acquisition of Qian Xun Hitatii - R2024F8F13H + AL a] XL IBAR#85,171,000
International with a total consideration of RMB85,171,000, which was TCSEPCYE T IBEISY » 5675 B2 A 23 a] & iR AR 170.80
settled partially by the allotment and issue of 80,000,000 new shares at a JETT BB TS B0 % R #17780,000,000R FTIR (745 & © %77
price of HK$0.80 each share in the Company. The net proceeds from the R 1.2 BT {550 B E 584 464,000,000/ T (12 RAIA
issue of shares amounted to approximately HK$64,000,000 (equivalent to E#568,786,0007T) °
approximately RMB58, 786,000).

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 32. ERBRIFTE

130 o Qian XunTechnology Limited / Annual Report 2024 e

The PRC employees of the Group are members of a state-managed
retirement benefit plan operated by the government of the PRC.
The PRC subsidiaries of the Company are required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit plan
to fund the employee benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified
contributions. The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
approximately RMB1,643,000 (2023: RMB1,575,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates specified
in the rules of the plan.

REENDEIES BPEBRMEFNEZRKERRK
BRI EIMAKE - ARBH P BN ERQRARZE
RENErSHNTERANEEA DL - UBER
BAHBNES - ARBBERRENGEIOE—FE
RELEERN - MERRANFAEHNARE
1,643,0007T (20234 : AR¥1,575,0007T) #EA&
S B IR ER AR E R L R A F AT SIS m ¢
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e




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A IERRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

B2 2024F 12731 HIFF/E
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BHAIRS
(@) Name and relationship (a) HAREBER
Name Relationship HE 22RES
Ms. Wang Lei (Note) Shareholder FE&E £ (i) (&S
Beijing Ruicheng Jiaye Public A company controlled B S e YN S EEEZZ:H il
Relations Consulting Co., Ltd. by Ms. Wang BRAR(HERImHEED) &2
(“Beijing Ruicheng Jiaye”)
Beijing Yuehe Management A company controlled IR MEREAER AR EEEE?Zi% il
Consulting Co., Ltd (“Beijing by Ms. Wang (MHEZ= AN EOPN
Yuehe”)
Note:  Since 3 October 2024, Ms. Wang Lei was no longer the interest, Mt - B2024%F 10536 - THEXL T,f;%z/r A fj #
controlling shareholder of the Company. Further details are set out B RRRIZRIRR - ié :tj AEHRARA]
in the Company's announcement dated on 3 October 2024. F R 52024 10 A3 #9 2
(b) Amounts due from related companies (b) FEKREIEDRRIE
Maximum amount outstanding
during the year
FARGESREERE
2024 2023 2024 2023
202445 20234 20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFT AR®T R ARETT
Beijing Ruicheng Jiaye SIS S - 100 - 100
Beijing Yuehe AR AN 157 111 157 -
157 100
These amounts were non-trade nature, unsecured, interest ZEFERFESHUE - BRI 28 KRAE
free and repayable on demand. RERKIEE o
The Group measures the loss allowance for amounts due REEIR EA121I)5] TBHEEEREN ST
from related parties at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. %ﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬁﬂ FIEREIERE - ARRES
The directors of the Company considered that the amounts RE - BRERFREAEEERR - B
due from related parties to be low credit risk and no recent BN R XS - BN EIE 20244 2023
history of default, and thus no impairment losses recognised F12A31 B IEFE W EERBERIE

during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 33. BHAIRZ (H)
() Compensation of key management personnel (c) HTEEXEEBASZHE
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other FRARABIEEREMEZEEEASKEDN
members of key management personnel during the year was s -
as follows:
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Salaries and allowances %‘ﬁﬁ&?—ﬁﬁ 972 659
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIRERIE R 110 125
1,082 784
The remuneration of directors of the Company and key ARABEERTETHAENFNHIFME
executives is determined by the remuneration committee BeREFARBRETEBIEBET -
having regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.
(d) Balance and transactions with a shareholder (d) SRERE-ZBRRNRS
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETF T
Ms. Wang Lei FEzL
Short-term lease payment PSEEFEN AN 329 438
During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, Ms. HE2024F N2023F12A31ALLFE - T8
Wang Lei act as a lessor of an office premise of the Group. THEAREERAZYEHDAA -
34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 34. BRETE
Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on BIEA QAT N2019F 10822 EI?&T%%WZE%HQ%E#%U
22 October 2019 (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing ([l BEEMBESREERKET - AQ
incentives to directors and eligible employees, the Company may F"J$%l%ﬂﬁ%%&iﬁﬁk%l?‘$ﬁﬁﬂx%u u/m,\%$
grant options to executive directors and full-time employees of the AR °
Group to subscribe for shares of the Company.
No share option was granted under the Scheme since its adoption. BT EILAR - ERIRAT IR T AR -
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35.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 24 July 2024, the Company and the independent vendors
entered into the agreement, and pursuant to the terms of the
Agreement, the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase at
the consideration, and the Vendors have conditionally agreed to
sell the Sale Shares, which is 100% equity interest in the Qian Xun
International.

On 13 August 2024, the conditions precedent under the
Agreement have been fulfilled and the Completion took place on
18 August 2024 in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the Agreement. Upon the Completion, the Company legally
and beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Qian Xun
International, and Qian Xun International will become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company.

Qian Xun International is a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and principally engaged in investment holding
and directly owns 100% of Hainan Qieke Technology Company
Limited, a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC
with limited liability, which in turn directly owns (i) 100% of the
equity interest in Shenzhen Qian Xun Technology Company Limited
(formerly known as Shenzhen Fenhao Technology Company
Limited)(“Shenzhen Qian Xun”); and (i) 99.9% of the equity interest
in Hangzhou Shiyan Technology Company Limited, which is
dormant as at the date of this announcement.

Shenzhen Qian Xun is a company established in the PRC with
limited liability, and it is principally engaged in the sales of used
electronic products and provision of SaaS services.

35.

EBAH

R2024F7 A248 » RRARERBIE H RIS ek
RERZRIER  AAREEGRZRAERE - M
EHFERGREEHEHEERD - BITEEER100%
R -

202458 13H » & IETﬁfrﬁf‘ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂfFi’J El

EK - WRERZGE l%?‘x &R 202448 A13
A - RERE © AR /ﬂ,am%*ﬁﬂél

BRERDBEITRA ﬁﬁ?ﬂéﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%$@iﬁ’ﬂ%
=Y

TREARAS-HMREEZMRINEREER
TEEREER Eix%ﬁ/tﬁfﬂ%ﬂ&ﬁﬁi
A (—HERFER NI EBERRAEDRE)100%
i MEREMEERAREREFORINT T
BERHRARATFIRARITOBRRBERAF)
(DWH??JEJMOO%H%%E K (i N AR F RHR A R

NA99.9% M - MHNAREHH  ZAREES
.,

FYNFRA—BRPEKIHNBRAR  XEZ/SE
IHE —FF 7 EM MR HESaaSHR ©
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (CONTINUED)

134 o Qian XunTechnology Limited / Annual Report 2024 g

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Qian Xun
International as at the respective dates of acquisition are as follows:

Plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Trade receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Inventories

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Total identifiable net asset at fair value
Goodwill arising from the acquisition

Total consideration (Note)

Note:

Consideration satisfied by:
Shares issued, at fair value
Contingent consideration payable

Total consideration

Analysis of the cash flows on acquisition:

Cash and cash equivalents acquired

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
included in cash flows from investing activities

35. EKSHt(E
FREENA#NEEREBERSKEBHBNAR

BEWT :
RMB’000
AR¥T
R & 32
B EE 29,206
Z S EWGRIE 9,919
e - B REREAEREIE 7,907
Re MRSEEY 1,984
7E 4,043
B2 SN IE (1,664)
E b BT RIE R FERTE A (17,220)
é%@%% (141)
$RIT ME A FE R (9,070)
EEMIBRE (7,302)
BARBEENAHAFEERLE 17,694
WEEENEE 67,477
REBEHZ) 85,171
RMB’000
ARET T
PR -
BUTEALAAE
BEITRG - RARE 58,786
RS ARE 26,385
BRE 85,171
BT & h REDNT
RMB’000
ARET T
WEMIRE MRS EEY 1,984
AAREEHNRESREANRE R
ReEEBEMRNFE 1,984
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36. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 28 June 2024, the Group entered into an equity transfer
Agreement with an independent third party not connected with
the Group for the disposal of entire equity interest in Shanghai
Kailun Advertising Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Kailun”), the indirectly
owned subsidiary of the Company, at a cash consideration of

36. HE—FMEAR

RMB200,000. Details of the net liabilities disposed of in respect of

the above transaction is summarised below:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control

was lost:

Plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Trade receivables, prepayments and other receivables & 5 fEUBR X

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade payables and other payables
Contract liabilities

Net liabilities disposed of

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary:
Cash consideration
Net liabilities disposed of

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

BAREBENEERBENDN

RS K s tf
R TREE

ReRREEEY
B 5 A BRI B A A BUR
BHaE

SHERERE
HE—FMEBLR 2
ReRE

BEHEREFR
HEEEZRERAFE
BEUEREHE

W EHERERRSEHEY

FEAS R K A W R

R2024F6A28H  ANEBEE —ZEREE R
EMBME = AR L REEER S LWHEARQF
MEHEAENHBAG LS GESERAR ([ LE
gfml) M2 IARE - RS RE AR ARE200,0007T °
LR SNEHEABEFEFBHALT ¢

Shanghai Kailun
tigslfm
RMB’000

ARBTT

15
5,136
84,428
16
(78,308)
(20,391)

(9,104)

200
9,104

9,304
200

(16)

184
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37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 37. METHELENEEHER
FINANCING ACTIVITY
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRFMANEERETHELENEELS  BER
from financing activity, including both cash and non-cash change. e RIFFeEH METHELNAGEAERSR
Liabilities arising from financing activity is those for which cash ELLIARKBEEREFENAEEGERERE
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s KHRoEARETHRERENEE -
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activity.

Bank and other

borrowings

SRITR EABER

RMB’000

ARBTT

At 1 January 2023 R2023%F1 A1H 117,184

New bank and other borrowings raised EENFIGRITREME K 115,000

Repayments of bank and other borrowings BB IRIT M E AR (83,200)
At 31 December 2023 and MR2023F12A31H &

1 January 2024 20241 H1H 148,984
New bank and other borrowings raised BEMFILRITREMBER 89,401
Repayments of bank and other borrowings EERIT REMER (165,484)
At 31 December 2024 2024512 A31H 72,901
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38. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 38. AQAZUIEMRARER
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE ARETT ARETT
Non-current assets FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETE R RERE 112,359 94,665
Goodwill EES 67,477 =
179,836 94,665
Current assets mENEE
Other deposit HEMFR - 37
Amount due from a subsidiary FEM — M B A RIFIE (@) 39,889 4,789
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSEEY 3 86
30,892 4,912
Total assets BEHE 219,728 99,577
Current liabilities REBAME
Other borrowing HibfER - 4,984
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R H M B KIE 4,388 5,812
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEH B AR08 12,068 4,533
Continent consideration payable RS ARE 28,797 =
45,253 15,329
Net assets FEE 174,475 84,248
Equity R
Share capital &N 5,043 3,578
Reserves ) (o) 169,432 80,670
Total equity R 174,475 84,248
Notes: Bt -
(@ The amounts are unsecured, non-interesting bearing and repayable on (a) EAERBREER - T ERBZEKEE -
demand.
) Movements in reserves ) EEE
Share
premium Capital Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
B RE ERfHE By ] @st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIT AR¥EF T ARMEFTT AREEFTT
At 1 January 2023 #2023%1 818 89,940 23,114 (30,594) 82,460
Loss for the year FREE - - (1,788) (1,788)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023F12 318 &
2024%181R 89,940 23,114 (32,382) 80,672
Loss for the year FREIE S = (4,510) (4,510)
Placing of shares Be e At 35,219 - - 35,219
Issue of shares BITRMG 58,051 - - 58,051
At 31 December 2024 #2024%12A31H 183,210 23,114 (36,892) 169,432
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39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
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Placing of convertible bonds under Specific Mandate

On 4 November 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the Company
proposed to offer for subscription, and the Placing Agent agreed
to procure subscriptions for the convertible bonds on a best
effort basis on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in
the placing agreement. The placing agent shall procure not less
than six placees to subscribe for the convertible bonds in the
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$300,001,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB277,058,000). The completion took place
on 28 February 2025. The convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$256,630,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB236,767,000) have been successfully issued and placed to not
less than six placees.

Upon the full conversion of the convertible bonds, based on the
initial conversion price of HK$2.60 per conversion share (subject
to adjustment), 98,703,846 conversion shares will be allotted
and issued by the Company upon exercise of the conversion
rights attaching to the convertible bonds in full, representing (i)
approximately 17.63% of the total number of issued Shares as at
the date of this announcement; and (i) approximately 14.98% of
the total issued shares as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
98,703,846 conversion shares.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 4 November 2024, 19 December 2024, 10 January 2025,
27 January 2025, 25 February 2025 and 28 February 2025 and
circulars of the Company dated 10 January 2025.

Misconduct Actions by Ms. Wang Xin and Potential Loss of
Control and Ownership in a Subsidiary

In February 2025, the directors of the Company (the “Board”)
discovered that the legal representatives of several PRC subsidiaries
had been changed to Ms. Wang Xin (the former Executive Director
and Chairlady of the Board, who was removed from her position
effective 1 March 2025) without proper authorisation from the
Board. Furthermore, the Board uncovered that the entire interest
in an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary (the “PRC Subsidiary”)
had been transferred to an independent third party outside of the
Group without the approval of the Board. As of 31 December 2024,
the PRC Subsidiary had net liabilities amounting to approximately
RMB45,345,000.

In response to these alleged misconduct actions by Ms. Wang Xin,
the Board has sought legal advice and initiated legal proceedings.
At this stage, it is not possible for the Board to determine the
potential financial impact on the Group arising from these actions, as
further investigations are required. These investigations will continue
subsequent to the approval date of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
1 March 2025.

39.

HBEHREBE
REFHRERETRRES

R2024F11 A48 - A AR EBAELERET L RER
Fo OB AAREBIREREURE  MEER
BREREBEEESHEATE IERTEEH GG Z
BRT  RBRATAEEERERBRRES - B
ERBEARENVOARNBEARARBACRTERS
/300,001,000 7T (FHE R4 AR ¥277,058,000
T Z AR ES - ST ER2025F2 281 %
A o R% 4858 /256,630,000/8 T (FHE R AR
236,767,0007T) Z AR EH BRI BT REEE T
RORNRBEBA ©

REBEHE R RRESRR  BEOLLREER
IR D2.608 T (A] FAR)E » AQRER
EEATE O] A IR (B 55 N 7 A SR AR A 14 e B8 R BT
98,703,846 X8R/ (7 « 1h()A A S AHEAE 1T
HEERHI17.68% ¢ Mo ()AL BL B M B81798,703,846 % i
B D IE A% B BTN R 4914.98% ©

E—HHBEHRART AEA2024F11 848 -
2024512 A19H ~ 202591 8108 - 202541 27
H - 202552 250 K2025%2 A28 A E A K&
AAFIBEA202551 10 H AR -

IMZETNAETARAURAEH -EHREQTN
EHEREGE

R2025F 28 » ARRIER([EF L)) BHEMAEF
EfEARMNEERRACERCESSEAR
BEHBRATEEAIMATFIRTEETRESS
FFE - B2025F3 A1 AR EREE) - thoh - E
RN —HEE2EPRENBRAR(HRMEBR
AMEPEEAKETSHACEETAEEI
SNIBNLE = - B E20245F12 8318 - HEKEB
RNRNBEFELN A ARE45,345,0007T °

HEITMUTOZESHRTETR  EEFEER
FERBAURMEERRESF - RBRE—FRE
EEeRRREAEEXTTHEARENEER
B R - ZSHERNAKREEZ2024F12A31H
LFEFE VAR S BITSRHL I A R AR TT

E—FSHBHRARR B A2025F381BHA
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40.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December

2024 and 2023 are as follows:

40.

RAREEME L RS

R20244F }2023%12 31 H AR RN EEWE A A
BT ¢

Place of Issued and fully

incorporation/  paid ordinary Percentage of equity interest and voting

establishment/ share capital/ power attributable to the Company
Name of subsidiaries Notes  operation registered capital AAFEEREE L RERRE

#M/RL/ EBRETRARLER Direct Indirect Principal activities
WEARER Wi EENY BE/BERA B i TEEY

2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023 2024 20235
Ruicheng Media Co., Ltd BVI USDO0.01 100% 100% - - Investment holding
HHBEERAR REEREE  001ER REER
Riches Technology Company Limited Hong Kong HKD100,000 100% = - - Investment holding
HREERAR BA 1000007 REER
Qian Xun International Limited Hong Kong HKD10,000 100% - - - Sales of used electronic products
TRERARAR & 10,000% 7T HE_FEFEM
Ruicheng (Hong Kong) Media Co., Ltd Hong Kong HKD100 - = 100% 100%  Provision of advertising services
il (&) BRER A A 10077 REBERE
Qingdao Ruicheng Jiaye 0] The PRC USD25,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of advertising services
Advertising Co., Ltd"
EShaE5EERRAR P 25,000,000 REBSERE
Beijing Ruicheng Advertising Co., Ltd* (i) The PRC RMB169,992,000 - = 100% 100%  Provision of advertising services
ERBHEEARAR $E ARH169,992,0007 100% 100% REESERS
Xizang Wanmei* (i) The PRC RMB5,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of advertising services
AEEE HE AR 5,000,0007C REBSERE
Lingyu (Beiing) Cultural Media Co., Ltd.* (i The PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Provision of advertising services
BB R X BEERAF P AR 1,000,007 REBE RS
Beijing Ruicheng Advertising Co., Ltd.* il The PRC RMB200,000 - = 99% 99%  Provision of advertising services
PR EEERAR HE AR 200,007 MRS
Bejing Ruicheng Zhixin Media Co., Ltd.* (i) The PRC RMB1,000,000 - = 100% - Provision of advertising services
IR HEEEEERAR P AR¥1,000,0007T R EERS
Shenzhen Qianxun Technology Co., Ltd.” (i) The PRC RMBS5,000,000 - - 100% - Sales of used electronic products
AT ERSEERLA e ARIE5,000,0007C HE_FETER
Shenzhen Sushuo Technology Co., Ltd. * (i) The PRC RMB500,000 - - 100% - Sales of used electronic products
AYRBREARAA HE AR 500,007 HE_FEFEM
Shenzhen Fenhaoyun Service Co., Ltd. * (i) The PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% - Sales of used electronic products
AP ERBERLA HE AR1,000,0007C HE_FETER
Shenzhen Sudong Culture Media (i) The PRC RMB500,000 - - 100% - Provision of SaaS services
Co., Ltd*
ARSI BEERAT HE AR 500,007 1R4tSaaSHR%
* for identification only * EREE)
Notes: aE -
) The entity was established in the PRC as a sino-foreign investment U} ZERBRAE T B—RFINE B -
enterprise.

(i) The entity was established in the PRC as a company with limited liability.

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities outstanding

at the end of both years or at any time during both years.

(i)  ZERRERPEZHEIAIFRL

R E S E RS MIEFEAREFER - SENEA
AR BHITEMERES
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Five Years Financial Summary

FFEHFEE

Result
Revenue

Gross Profit
Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax (expenses)/credit

(Loss)/profit for the year from
continuing operations

Attributable to:

Equity shareholders of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

(Loss)/profit for the year
Assets and liabilities
Capital and reserves

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

(Loss)/earnings per share

Form continuing and discontinued

operation
— Basic (RMB)

From continuing operations
— Basic (RMB)
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ES
Yeas

EM

BERA

BREiAT (E51R) SR
Fris®t (F0), e

MR (B1R) i Fl

THIRIRRE
RAFHERR

FRIERRE
FRER),E8H
BEREE

BEXRRE
[LEN
fr& 2

RAEEERREMN
[t
ES e

S

Bk (B1R) BF

REFBERBRLEE
%7
—ERARE)

—ERARE)

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AR¥BTr ARETT ARETT AR®TT AR®ETT
356,833 378,707 412,659 441,051 446,993
22,496 23,565 10,627 17,299 40,299
(4,915) (7,320) 6,471) (8,519) (7,576)
(123,060) (32,069) (32,073) 4,302 4,376
(651) 8,718 20,411 (3,839) (1,550)
(123,711) (23,351) (11,662) 463 2.826
(123,702) (23,471) (11,384) 445 2,844
©) 120 (278) 18 (18)
(123,711) (23,351) (11,662) 463 2,826
5,043 3,578 3,578 3,578 3,578
148,779 179,211 202,682 214,066 213,621
153,822 182,789 206,260 217,644 217,199
(25) (16) (136) 142 124
153,797 182,773 206,124 217,786 217,323
(25.81) (5.87) (2.85) 0.11 0.01
(25.81) (5.87) (2.85) 0.11 0.01




Glossary
i A

ABBREVIATIONS

“affiliate(s)”
(B AL

“AGM”
[BERBFEAE]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

(4RI sk [7AAm =12 4m A

“Audit Committee”
[BZZE"]

“Board”
[EEg]

"Board Committees"

[EE£ZEg]

ils)3

“BVI”
[RBHERES]

“CG Code”
(BRI

“China” or “PRC”

[ B

“Director(s)”
[E%]

“HK$” or “HKD”
[%&7tl

“Hong Kong”
(&8

“IFRS”

[BIER A s o s YAl

“Independent Non-executive Directors”

(B IFTES

any person(s), directly or indirectly, controlling, controlled by or under direct or indirect common
control with another person(s)

BESEEREGS - ATHES - ATEEINETAL  SES-ALXIFESEERLR
T E R AT

the forthcoming annual general meeting for the year 2024 of the Company
AR R2024F FE B EAF A G

the amended and restated articles of association of our Company adopted on 6 June 2023

by the Shareholders at the 2023 annual general meeting of the Company, as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AR F2023F6 A6 A EAR R AI2023F R BF ARG FERMA LT RESABERMA - &
TEHERT - fiFesk A=At 77 S 2Kk

the audit committee under the Board
ERGE EREEY

board of directors of the Company

ARRERE

collectively, the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee
BEZLZEE REZESRFMEZESZHE

the British Virgin Islands
HBGERHE

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

LR BIFERC PrE I R E R TR

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this annual report and for geographical
reference only (unless otherwise indicated), excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

REARLME - ERAFRREFMFEREMS - TREES - PEORFIFITTHRER A

N3

director(s) of the Company
RARMES

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BREEEEET

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PREEBRIITTEHRR

International Financial Reporting Standards, which include standards, amendments and
interpretations promulgated by the IASB and the International Accounting Standards and
interpretation issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee

BRI BREED - BERRSHENRESWANER BT RERE - UKER S ER)
ZESBMHOBERGHEL 2R

the independent non-executive Directors of the Company
RARNELIEMITES
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Glossary
H i A

“Independent Third Party(ies)”

B E=7]

“Listing Rules”
[ Er Al
“Model Code”
[P Al

“Nomination Committee”

MRaZBE]

“Remuneration Committee”
[HHEE=]

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
AR

“Reporting Period”
[R5

“SFO”
[ K EE %D

“Share(s)”
%15 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
(A& 3R ]

“Share Option Scheme”

[FE R st &)

“Stock Exchange”

(B 32 P )

wgy?
(%]

*for identification purpose only.
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an individual(s) or a company(ies) who or which is/are independent of and not connected

with (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) any Directors, chief executive or substantial
Shareholders (within the meaning of the Listing Rules), of our Company, our subsidiaries or any
of their respective associates

BYRAAT - EMBARSESEMASEMEAZEMNES FETHRASKTERR(E
FR TR BRESHECMEE(ERER FTRAD 2 ALHAT

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, as
amended from time to time
BEBAERXHBERRAEF EMRR T REET)

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules
AR RIMTERCPAHE E T EITABE FETESF X FORETH

the nomination committee under the Board

EFgRTRAEAS

the remuneration committee under the Board

EZeR THHZES

the lawful currency of the PRC
FEIEEEBARE

the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F12A31HIEFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as amended,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

BEREDIESNEE S MG IRE G IRER] - MR IAEMTT R ER)

ordinary share(s) with nominal value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of our Company
AR R AP FREE.01E TR TR

holder(s) of the Shares
BROFFEA

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by our Company on 22 October 2019, the
principal terms of which are summarised in the section headed “D. Share Option Scheme” in
Appendix IV to the Prospectus

RARR2019F10 422 B B M SRR ERTE) - B X 2IEBIRN B E 12 PEEr
[D.fE MRSl —&n

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERMERHMARAT

per cent.
Ao

* B -
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